

CHCRUS

This is the accepted manuscript made available via CHORUS. The article has been published as:

Hydrodynamic theory of quantum fluctuating superconductivity

Richard A. Davison, Luca V. Delacrétaz, Blaise Goutéraux, and Sean A. Hartnoll Phys. Rev. B **94**, 054502 — Published 3 August 2016 DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.94.054502

Hydrodynamic theory of quantum fluctuating superconductivity

Richard A. Davison,¹ Luca V. Delacrétaz,² Blaise Goutéraux^{2,3} and Sean A. Hartnoll²

¹Department of Physics, Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts, 02138, USA

²Department of Physics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305-4060, USA

³APC, Université Paris 7, CNRS, CEA, Observatoire de Paris, Sorbonne Paris Cité, F-75205, Paris Cedex 13, France

Abstract

A hydrodynamic theory of transport in quantum mechanically phase-disordered superconductors is possible when supercurrent relaxation can be treated as a slow process. We obtain general results for the frequency-dependent conductivity of such a regime. With time-reversal invariance, the conductivity is characterized by a Drude-like peak, with width given by the supercurrent relaxation rate. Using the memory matrix formalism, we obtain a formula for this width (and hence also the dc resistivity) when the supercurrent is relaxed by short range density-density interactions. This leads to a new – effective field theoretic and fully quantum – derivation of a classic result on flux flow resistance. With strong breaking of time-reversal invariance, the optical conductivity exhibits what we call a 'hydrodynamic supercyclotron' resonance. We obtain the frequency and decay rate of this resonance for the case of supercurrent relaxation due to an emergent Chern-Simons gauge field. The supercurrent decay rate in this 'topologically ordered superfluid vortex liquid' is determined by the conductivities of the normal fluid component, rather than the vortex core.

Contents

1	Introduction		1
	1.1	Experimental motivation	2
	1.2	Summary of approach and results	4
	1.3	Mechanisms of low temperature dissipation	5
2	Sup	erfluid hydrodynamics of incoherent metals	6
3	Vortices and supercurrent relaxation (with parity)		10
	3.1	Superfluid hydrodynamics with vortices	10
	3.2	Supercurrent relaxation from the memory matrix	13
	3.3	Supercurrent relaxation from short range charge density interactions	17
4	Parity-violating superfluid hydrodynamics with vortices		21
	4.1	Hydrodynamic conductivities without parity	21
	4.2	Memory matrix description	24
5	Supercurrent relaxation by a Chern-Simons interaction		26
	5.1	Conductivities from the memory matrix	29
	5.2	Chern-Simons superfluid hydrodynamics	32
6	Discussion		33
A	Proofs of memory matrix statements		34
	A.1	Time reversal invariant case	34
	A.2	Non-time reversal invariant case	37
в	Mag	gnetotransport revisited	37

1 Introduction

While superconductivity is often correctly captured by mean field physics, fluctuations can be important, especially with reduced dimensionality. The effects of thermal superconducting fluctuations are largely understood; they are well-described within Ginzburg-Landau and – in two spatial dimensions – Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless theory [1, 2, 3]. The physics of quantum superconducting fluctuations, in contrast, presents theoretical challenges. Yet, a theory of quantum fluctuating superconductivity is likely necessary to address important questions such as the existence of zero temperature metallic phases in two dimensions (for an overview of the challenges, see [4]).

Quantum mechanical effects can naturally lead to fluctuations in the phase of the superconducting order parameter. Quantum phase fluctuations will be the topic of this paper. The phase and the charge density are canonically conjugate variables. Therefore, if e.g. Coulombic interactions act to suppress charge density fluctuations, phase fluctuations will necessarily be induced due to the uncertainty principle $\Delta\rho\Delta\phi \gtrsim \hbar$. These can destroy long range phase coherence (early papers to emphasize this fact were [5, 6]). In this paper we will develop a theoretically controlled framework that realizes this intuition. We do this by working in a regime in which the supercurrent relaxation rate can be treated as a small parameter. In any case, it is only in this regime that the metallic nature of the state can be unambiguously characterized as phase-disordered superconductivity.

1.1 Experimental motivation

Phase fluctuations are expected to be generically important in systems with a small superfluid density such as organic and cuprate superconductors [7, 8, 9]. Relatively inefficient Coulomb screening can increase the importance of quantum effects [10], as can proximity to a Mott transition [11, 12]. The most dramatic and established appearance of quantum phase fluctuations, however, is in disordered thin films which we now discuss in more detail.

Disordered thin films undergo 'superfluid-insulator' transitions as a function of magnetic field [13, 14, 15, 16, 17] or film thickness/disorder [18, 19]. Of great interest for our purposes, in both cases intermediate metallic phases often exist between the superconducting and insulating phases. See [16, 17, 20, 21, 22] and [18, 23, 24, 25], respectively. These metallic phases have a residual zero temperature resistivity that can be orders of magnitude smaller than the normal state resistivity. In this regime, at least, it is plausible that the transport is controlled by a slow relaxation rate that is distinct from the single-particle relaxation rate. A natural possibility is that it corresponds to a slow supercurrent relaxation due to quantum phase fluctuations. This will be the scenario studied in this paper.

In a magnetic field, disorder in thin films destabilizes the vortex lattice and leads to mobile vortices at any nonzero temperature [26]. Therefore, thin films that are 'superconducting' in fact only have vanishing resistivity at T = 0 [27]. This is widely observed in the thin film references quoted above and also, for instance, in LSCO in sufficiently large magnetic fields [28]. These phases are good candidates for our approach also, as they are metallic at arbitrarily low temperatures where quantum phase fluctuations may be important. Direct evidence for quantum phase fluctuations in the intermediate metallic phase comes from measurements of the ac conductivity in weakly disordered two dimensional InO_x films [29]. These observations were the immediate motivation for our work. Previous measurements, such as the magnetic field and temperature dependence of the Nernst effect [30, 31], had established the importance of phase fluctuations in InO_x . The ac measurements, however, access the $T \rightarrow 0$ regime and furthermore directly reveal a long timescale. This timescale will be the essential building block of our theory.

In [29] the complex conductivity $\sigma(\omega, T)$ of a weakly disordered InO_x film was measured as the system was driven from superconducting to (weakly) insulating behavior by varying a magnetic field. The data shows that while the low temperature, zero-frequency superfluid stiffness vanishes for magnetic fields above $B_{\rm sm} \approx 3$ Tesla, weakly insulating behavior does not onset until the magnetic fields are larger than $B_{\rm cross} \approx 7.5$ Tesla. In the intermediate magnetic field range, the films are metallic and, close to the superconducting phase, the ac conductivity is characterized by a sharp 'Drude-like' zero-frequency Lorentzian peak. In the $T \rightarrow 0$ limit, the width of this peak tends to zero precisely as B is lowered to $B_{\rm sm}$. These measurements therefore directly obtain a long current relaxation timescale that continuously diverges at the onset of superconductivity. The natural (and possibly unique) interpretation of this timescale is that it is the lifetime of a supercurrent that decays due to phase incoherence.

The zero temperature Drude-like peak just described is not a conventional Drude peak. The width of the peak is directly connected to superfluid dynamics rather than disorder. In this paper we develop a theory of Drude-like peaks caused by quantum phase fluctuating superconductivity. In particular, we obtain formulae for the width of the peak and, consequently, for the finite dc conductivity. If the width remains finite at T = 0, the theory describes a zero temperature metallic phase due to phase-fluctuating superconductivity.

A further candidate for a Drude-like peak due to phase fluctuating superconductivity is that observed in an organic molecular metal close to a Mott transition. Specifically, in κ -(BEDT-TTF)₂Cu[N(CN)₂]Cl_{1-x}Br_x, with x = 0.73, a Drude-like peak is seen to emerge at $T \leq 50$ K [32]. At precisely these temperatures a substantial, magnetic field dependent Nernst effect is also observed [12]. While this peak has been interpreted in terms of 'coherent quasiparticles', the evidence for superconducting phase fluctuations over the same temperature range may warrant a new look. Phase fluctuations in this family of organic superconductors are known to lead to quantum vortex liquids when placed in a magnetic field, even away from the Mott transition (i.e. in κ -(BEDT-TTF)₂Cu(NCS)₂ [33]).

1.2 Summary of approach and results

The starting point will be superfluid hydrodynamics. The hydrodynamic description is based on symmetries alone and therefore describes any superfluid or superconducting state. It is valid with or without the existence of long-lived quasiparticles. We will work in the 'incoherent' limit [34], which effectively means – in the present context – that we assume that supercurrent relaxation is parametrically slower than momentum relaxation. In this way our hydrodynamic theory contains superfluid velocity but not normal velocity as a variable. This limit seems to be relevant to the data in [29], in which the width of the Drude-like peak is solely determined by supercurrent relaxation (as it is much narrower than the normal state Drude peak).

We proceed to partially 'break' the hydrodynamic description by allowing for weak relaxation of the superfluid velocity (necessarily due to vortices). This is a situation that is tailor-made for 'memory matrix' techniques [35], that are built around long lived quantities. Using the memory matrix, we obtain an expression for the supercurrent relaxation rate starting from certain charge density interactions in the low energy effective Hamiltonian of the system. This is the step in which microscopic input is required and at which the quantum uncertainty relation $\Delta \rho \Delta \phi \gtrsim \hbar$ plays a role. Here ρ is the charge density. The power of a hydrodynamic approach is that we do not need to know many details about the microscopic Hamiltonian. Supercurrent relaxation only depends on a certain term ΔH in the Hamiltonian that does not commute with the total supercurrent operator.

Our first results concern systems in which parity and time reversal symmetries are unbroken (or, at least, where the effects of symmetry breaking due to e.g. a magnetic field can be neglected). We show that fluctuating superconductivity leads to the conductivity

$$\sigma = \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{1}{-i\omega + \Omega} + \sigma_0 \,. \tag{1}$$

The superfluid relaxation rate Ω is given by (48) below, σ_0 is the contribution of the normal fluid component to the conductivity and ρ_s and m are susceptibilities that will be defined below. A universal term in the low energy Hamiltonian leading to a nonzero Ω in the presence of mobile vortices is $\Delta H = \frac{\lambda}{2} \int d^2x \,\rho(x)^2$ – see equation (53) below. If the vortices are sufficiently large, this interaction leads to

$$\Omega = \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{n_f \pi r_v^2}{2\,\sigma_{\rm n}} \,. \tag{2}$$

This is equation (58) below. Here n_f and r_v are, respectively, the number density and radius of mobile (free) vortices and σ_n is the conductivity of the normal state. In particular, this expression recovers exactly a classic 'Bardeen-Stephen' result [36, 37] for the d.c. resistivity due to vortices. Our approach embeds that result in a more general, transparent and fully quantum framework.

We proceed to incorporate strong parity and time reversal symmetry breaking. The longitudinal and Hall – σ and σ^H – conductivities are now given by

$$\sigma^{H} + i \sigma = \frac{\rho_s \left(1 + \rho_v^2\right)}{m^2} \frac{\Omega^{H} + i\Omega + \omega}{\left(-i\omega + \Omega\right)^2 + \left(\Omega^{H}\right)^2} + \sigma_0^{H} + i\sigma_0.$$
(3)

As above, σ_0 and σ_0^H are the normal fluid component conductivities. The frequencydependent response reveals what we will call a 'hydrodynamic supercyclotron' mode at

$$\omega_{\star} = \pm \Omega^H - i\Omega \,. \tag{4}$$

That is to say, the mode oscillates at frequency Ω^H with decay rate Ω . If Ω^H is large enough compared with Ω , the peak in the optical conductivity moves away from $\omega = 0$. This mode is analogous to the hydrodynamic cyclotron mode in a magnetic field (e.g. [38]), but supported by a long-lived supercurrent rather than a long-lived momentum. Both Ω and Ω^H depend on the supercurrent-relaxing Hamiltonian ΔH . As an example of this physics, we consider a nonlocal interaction $\Delta H = \frac{\lambda'}{2} \int \frac{d^2k}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{\rho_{-k}(\nabla \times j)_k^z}{k^2} + \text{h.c.}$. As we explain in section 5, this interaction is equivalent to coupling the superfluid to an emergent Chern-Simons gauge field. This field creates superfluid vortices whose motion degrades the supercurrent. The supercyclotron mode in this case is found to have

$$\omega_{\star} = \frac{\lambda' \rho_s}{m^2} \frac{\pm 1 - \lambda' (\pm \sigma_0^H + i\sigma_0)}{(1 - \lambda' \sigma_0^H)^2 + (\lambda' \sigma_0)^2} = \frac{\lambda' \rho_s}{m^2} \frac{1}{\pm 1 - \lambda' (\pm \sigma_0^H - i\sigma_0)}.$$
 (5)

This is equation (98) below. The complex frequency of the mode is proportional to the superfluid density ρ_s and the Chern-Simons coupling λ' . Furthermore, Ω is proportional to the incoherent conductivity σ_0 . This 'incoherent conductivity' quantifies the dissipation caused by the motion of non-superfluid charged excitations (i.e. the 'normal fluid component' – cf. [39]). In this example, therefore, dissipation is not caused by the vortex cores.

1.3 Mechanisms of low temperature dissipation

Beyond the specific examples of phase-disordering interactions summarized above, the formalism we develop gives a clear perspective on possible quantum mechanisms for supercurrent relaxation as $T \rightarrow 0$, and hence for metallic phases in two dimensions. Specifically, we will see that:

- 1. Local (short range) charge density interactions can only lead to supercurrent relaxation in the presence of mobile vortices with dissipative cores. Conventional vortices, if they are present at all, are not expected to remain mobile at T = 0 [26, 27].
- 2. Nonlocal charge density interactions can result in supercurrent relaxation due to dissipative processes entirely outside of vortex cores. These dissipative processes will involve the normal fluid component of the system. Therefore, if a normal fluid component survives to T = 0 then, in principle, so can supercurrent relaxation.
- 3. The existence of a normal fluid component in itself is not sufficient to relax the supercurrent. Typically the supercurrent simply short circuits the normal fluid. Gapless excitations that might mediate long range nonlocal interactions are also not guaranteed to relax the supercurrent, they will simply themselves be part of the normal fluid. To disorder the phase and relax the supercurrent, the nonlocal interaction needs to have specific properties. The Chern-Simons interaction we consider below is an example of an interaction that does the job. By creating vortices through flux attachment, it ties the dynamics of the charge density (including the normal component) to phasefluctuation physics.

2 Superfluid hydrodynamics of incoherent metals

There are two important sources of infinite dc conductivities in systems with a nonzero charge density. Firstly, in a superfluid phase, an infinite conductivity follows from conservation of the supercurrent operator J_{ϕ} . Secondly, in a translationally invariant system, an infinite conductivity follows from conservation of the total momentum P. Both conservation laws must be broken to obtain a finite conductivity.

Relaxation of momentum can be achieved by disorder, umklapp scattering or coupling to a momentum-non-conserving bath (e.g. phonons away from the phonon drag regime). Weak momentum relaxation in the normal, non-superconducting, state results in the metal entering a hydrodynamic regime [38, 40, 41, 42]. Hydrodynamic metals exhibit unconventional physics that is currently of considerable experimental interest [43, 44, 45].

The opposite limit of very strong momentum relaxation (but without localization) leads to 'incoherent metals' [34]. It is possible that many of the most interesting strongly correlated systems are in this class: for instance, many are close to localized phases and exhibit very broad Drude peaks, if they have Drude peaks at all [34]. The essence of an incoherent metal is that there is no advective transport and hence the only hydrodynamic variables are fluctuations of the charge ρ and energy ϵ densities. In particular, the local velocity u does not appear as a hydrodynamic variable and hence there are no sound modes [46]. The densities obey the conservation equations

$$\frac{\partial \epsilon}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot j^E = 0, \qquad \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot j = 0.$$
(6)

Here j and j^E are the electric and energy current, respectively. The Green's functions for the conserved densities are obtained using constitutive relations. These capture dissipative physics in a gradient expansion, as we will recall shortly.

Our object of study here is an incoherent metal that attempts but fails to become superconducting. In a superfluid phase an additional hydrodynamic variable appears: the superfluid velocity [47]

$$u_{\phi} = \frac{1}{m} \nabla \phi \,. \tag{7}$$

Here ϕ is a long wavelength perturbation of the superfluid phase. The constant m is a mass scale, that we discuss further later (essentially, m^{-1} will be the susceptibility $\chi_{ju_{\phi}}$, defined below). The static susceptibility¹ of u_{ϕ} defines the superfluid density ρ_s :

$$\chi_{u^i_{\phi}u^j_{\phi}} = \frac{1}{\rho_s} \delta^{ij} \,. \tag{8}$$

We will study the effects of quantum phase fluctuations that relax the superfluid velocity, and hence frustrate the attempt to become superconducting, but leave ρ_s finite. Superfluid hydrodynamics will remain useful if u_{ϕ} relaxes sufficiently slowly. We will work in this limit, in which we will be able to get a theoretical handle on the problem. In this limit there is a sharp Drude-like peak in the optical conductivity with width given by the supercurrent decay rate Ω . This decay rate, and hence the d.c. conductivities, can be obtained using the memory matrix formalism [35]. The power of this approach is that it packages all microscopic details into a single quantity, Ω . The important input – beyond simple hydrodynamics – is a term ΔH in the Hamiltonian responsible for phase relaxation (i.e. such that $[\Delta H, J_{\phi}] \neq 0$). An elegant memory matrix discussion of phase fluctuations in one spatial dimension exists [48]. We will be considering the case of two spatial dimensions. An important part of this work will be the identification of interesting and natural terms ΔH . First, however, we must describe the hydrodynamic framework with a conserved supercurrent.

¹The superfluid density appears in the free energy density as $f = \dots + \frac{1}{2}\rho_s u_{\phi}^2$. The free energy is itself a function of u_{ϕ} and must be Legendre transformed to obtain the thermodynamic potential for the superfluid source $h_{\phi} = \partial f / \partial u_{\phi} = \rho_s u_{\phi}$. This potential is then $g = \dots - \frac{1}{2}h_{\phi}^2/\rho_s$. The susceptibility (8) then follows from $\chi = -\partial^2 g / \partial h_{\phi}^2$.

The memory matrix has been successfully used in recent years to obtain the d.c. conductivity of hydrodynamic metals with slow momentum relaxation [38, 49, 50, 51, 52]. By focusing on incoherent metals, we can concentrate on cases where the dc conductivity is determined solely by the physics relaxing the supercurrent. In a separate work we will consider the interplay of both momentum and supercurrent relaxation [53].

To obtain the equations of motion for the hydrodynamic variables ρ, ϵ, u_{ϕ} we need to write down the constitutive relations for the two conserved currents as well as the 'Josephson relation' for the phase [47]. The physics is most transparent if we swap the energy density and current for the entropy density s and heat current j^Q :

$$d\epsilon = T ds + \mu d\rho + \rho_s u_\phi \cdot du_\phi, \qquad (9)$$

$$j^Q = j^E - \mu j. (10)$$

We are considering linear response about a state with no supercurrent, so the last term in (9) will be subleading for most purposes. To first order in a derivative expansion the constitutive and Josephson relations are

$$j - \frac{\rho_s}{m} u_\phi = -\alpha_1 \nabla s - \alpha_2 \nabla \rho + \cdots, \qquad (11)$$

$$\frac{1}{T}j^Q = -\beta_1 \nabla s - \beta_2 \nabla \rho + \cdots, \qquad (12)$$

$$\partial_t \phi = -\mu + \xi \rho_s \nabla \cdot u_\phi + \cdots . \tag{13}$$

There are five dissipative transport coefficients $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2, \xi$. The superfluid velocity (7) should be counted at zeroth order in the derivative expansion. Therefore, it is convenient to take the gradient of the Josephson relation and write

$$m \,\partial_t u_\phi = -\nabla \mu + \xi \,\rho_s \nabla \,\nabla \cdot u_\phi + \cdots \,. \tag{14}$$

The non-dissipative term that we have placed on the left hand side of (11) is fixed by absence of entropy production to leading order in derivatives (i.e. set $\dot{s} + \nabla \cdot (j^Q/T) = 0$, using (9) to calculate time derivatives, including the last term, and the conservation laws).

The above equations assume that two dimensional parity is unbroken. In section 4 below we will describe the case with broken parity. The parity broken case is experimentally relevant due to the presence of magnetic fields in many studies of quantum fluctuating superconductivity.

From the constitutive and Josephson relations combined with the conservation laws, the thermoelectric conductivities can be obtained following Kadanoff and Martin [54]. In practice, it is simpler to use the hydrodynamic equations of motion to eliminate u_{ϕ} and hence write

$$\begin{pmatrix} j \\ \frac{1}{T}j^Q \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma & \alpha \\ \alpha & \overline{\kappa}/T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -\nabla\mu \\ -\nabla T \end{pmatrix},$$
(15)

from which the conductivities immediately follow (with space and time dependence $e^{-i\omega t + ik \cdot x}$, and setting the wavevector k to zero in the matrix of conductivities). Thus we obtain

$$\sigma = \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{i}{\omega} + \sigma_0 , \qquad (16)$$

$$\alpha = \alpha_0, \qquad (17)$$

$$\overline{\kappa} = \overline{\kappa}_0. \tag{18}$$

The conductivity (16) amounts to a 'two-fluid' description in which there is a superfluid and normal contribution to the conductivity. The normal fluid in this case is completely incoherent, with no sound mode due to the absence of a long-lived momentum. The incoherent parts of the above expressions are given by the Einstein relations (c.f. [34])

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sigma_0 & \alpha_0 \\ \alpha_0 & \overline{\kappa}_0/T \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_2 & \alpha_1 \\ \beta_2 & \beta_1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \chi_{\rho\rho} & \chi_{\rho s} \\ \chi_{s\rho} & \chi_{ss} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (19)

The symmetry of the matrix of conductivities (Onsager relation) imposes one constraint on the dissipative transport coefficients $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2$. The susceptibilities are of course symmetric so that $\chi_{\rho s} = \chi_{s\rho}$. Note that $T\chi_{ss} = c_{\mu}$, the specific heat at constant chemical potential. $\bar{\kappa}$ is the thermal conductivity at vanishing electric field (closed circuit boundary conditions). As expected, the electrical conductivity diverges as $\omega \to 0$. We have not yet incorporated the effect of phase fluctuations.

The normal modes of the hydrodynamic system above are easily seen to be a pair of 'second sound' (although there is no normal sound in this case) modes

$$\omega(k) = \pm \sqrt{\frac{\rho_s c_\mu}{m^2 T \det \chi}} k - \frac{i}{2} \left(\frac{\rho_s \xi}{m} - \frac{\overline{\kappa}_0}{c_\mu} + \frac{c_\mu \sigma_0 + \chi_{\rho\rho} \overline{\kappa}_0 - 2T \chi_{s\rho} \alpha_0}{T \det \chi} \right) k^2, \qquad (20)$$

where det $\chi = \chi_{\rho\rho}\chi_{ss} - \chi_{s\rho}^2$, and a heat diffusion mode

$$\omega(k) = -i\frac{\overline{\kappa}_0}{c_\mu}k^2\,. \tag{21}$$

The thermal diffusivity in this, superfluid, case is therefore proportional to the closed circuit thermal conductivity $\bar{\kappa}$. In the non-superfluid case, it is the open circuit thermal conductivity κ that appears [34]. In a metal, the charge-carrying sound modes (20) are of course screened by Coulomb interactions, which give the modes a mass. However, measurements

of both dc and optical electrical conductivities measure the current response to the total rather than the external electric field. They are therefore given by the unscreened Green's functions. The expression (16) therefore applies to superconductors as well as superfluids, as do expressions for the dc conductivity below such as (29).

3 Vortices and supercurrent relaxation (with parity)

3.1 Superfluid hydrodynamics with vortices

Supercurrent relaxation is necessarily tied up with vortex physics. It is convenient to consider the system on a spatial torus. A nonzero supercurrent implies a winding of the phase, which can only be relaxed by topological defects. Vortices are defects in the superfluid velocity. While the superfluid velocity is locally a gradient (7), at a vortex a quantized circulation is present. If n_v is the local density of vortices, then

$$\epsilon^{ij} \nabla^i u^j_{\phi} = \frac{2\pi}{m} n_v \,. \tag{22}$$

In a continuum description, the incorporation of vortices requires a transverse part in the superfluid velocity. Therefore, for a global description, we must generalize (7) to

$$u^{i}_{\phi} = \frac{1}{m} \left(\nabla^{i} \phi + \epsilon^{ij} \nabla^{j} \psi \right).$$
⁽²³⁾

However, microscopically speaking, n_v comes from coarse-graining over many separated vortex cores. Outside of the vortex cores the vorticity vanishes and hence $\nabla^2 \psi = 0$. This means that locally, outside of vortex cores, u_{ϕ} can be written as the gradient of a phase. The superfluid hydrodynamics we are about to describe takes place outside the vortex cores, even while it depends on the local density n_v of vortices.

Because vortices are topological defects, they can only disappear within low energy dynamics through annihilation with an anti-vortex. Therefore, the local vorticity is conserved and there exists a vortex current j_v satisfying

$$\frac{\partial n_v}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot j_v = 0.$$
⁽²⁴⁾

Equation (22) means that we can always trade the vortex density n_v for the curl of the superfluid velocity. The superfluid velocity is a zeroth order variable in the gradient expansion and hence the vortex density is first order.

Vortices modify the Josephson relation (14) to

$$m\partial_t u^i_{\phi} = -\nabla^i \mu + 2\pi \epsilon^{ij} j^j_v + \xi \,\rho_s \nabla^i \,\nabla^j u^j_{\phi} + \cdots \,. \tag{25}$$

Taking the curl of this equation, we see that it implies the vorticity conservation law (24). The new term in the 'generalized Josephson relation' above has a direct physical interpretation: a flow of vortices induces a transverse electrostatic potential gradient. In a magnetic field this dynamics underlies, for instance, the vortex Nernst signal [55, 56]. The fact that a vortex current causes a time dependence in the perpendicular phase gradient will ultimately allow relaxation of the supercurrent.

The constitutive relations for the charge and heat currents -(11) and (12) above - are not changed by the presence of vortices. We must add a new constitutive relation for the vortex current

$$j_v^i - \frac{m}{2\pi} \Omega \,\epsilon^{ij} u_\phi^j = -\gamma \nabla^i n_v + \cdots \,. \tag{26}$$

The 'intrinsic vortex diffusivity' γ in (26) must be positive. γ will not play an important role in our discussion. More important is the Ω term in (26). The Ω term is allowed by parity and is the analogue (in our incoherent limit with no conserved momentum) of the superfluid Magnus force. It has some similarity with the term appearing on the left hand side of the electric current constitutive relation (11). As we noted, however, the vortex density and current are already first order in the gradient expansion (unlike the charge density and electric current). Ω itself must therefore be counted as first order in derivatives, and leads to dissipation. It is required by positivity of entropy production to satisfy $\Omega > 0$. A formula for Ω will be obtained in the following section 3.2. Indeed, because the $\Omega \epsilon^{ij} u^j_{\phi}$ term in (26) introduces a transverse part into the vortex current, it 'breaks' the Josephson equation (13) for the phase to

$$\partial_t \phi = -\mu - \Omega \,\phi + \cdots \,. \tag{27}$$

It follows that a nonzero Ω is tantamount to saying that ϕ is no longer a Goldstone boson. The precise meaning of Ω will become clearer in the following section 3.2. It will not, therefore, be a surprise when we find shortly that it gaps out various hydrodynamic modes, leading to a finite dc conductivity. These effects can still be captured within hydrodynamics so long as Ω is much smaller than the local equilibration rate (presumably set by the temperature and chemical potential).

Extracting the matrix of conductivities (15) from the hydrodynamic equations as above, now gives the Drude-like form for the electrical conductivity

$$\sigma = \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{1}{-i\omega + \Omega} + \sigma_0 \,. \tag{28}$$

The thermoelectric and thermal conductivities are unchanged from (17) and (18) by the presence of vortices (recall we consider a parity-invariant theory). The dc electrical conduc-

tivity is now finite and given by

$$\sigma_{\rm dc} = \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{1}{\Omega} + \sigma_0 \,. \tag{29}$$

The coefficients ρ_s and m^2 here – we will see later that they are both thermodynamic susceptibilities – are those in the theory with a nonzero Ω .

While we will mostly focus on charge transport, it is clear from the electrical (29) and thermal (18) conductivities that the Weidemann-Franz law will be strongly violated in the fluctuating superconductivity regime, with Lorenz ratio

$$L \equiv \frac{\kappa}{\sigma T} \sim \frac{\overline{\kappa}_0 m^2}{\rho_s} \frac{\Omega}{T} \ll 1.$$
(30)

Recall that the open circuit thermal conductivity $\kappa = \overline{\kappa} - \alpha^2 T / \sigma$.

The collective hydrodynamic modes are now seen to be as follows. The thermal diffusion mode (21) is unaffected to leading order at small Ω . A new mode appears which describes the dynamics of the vorticity. This transverse part of the superfluid velocity was previously inert. This mode is a gapped diffusive mode

$$\omega(k) = -i\Omega - i\gamma k^2. \tag{31}$$

The 'second sound' modes (20) become one gapped and one ungapped diffusive mode. For small Ω , the gapped mode has the dispersion

$$\omega(k) = -i\Omega + i\frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{c_\mu}{T \det \chi} \frac{k^2}{\Omega}, \qquad (32)$$

(note that this is the dispersion in the limit in which $k \to 0$ is taken before small Ω , so the mode is causal) while the new gapless diffusive mode has

$$\omega(k) = -i\frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{c_\mu}{T \det \chi} \frac{k^2}{\Omega} \equiv -iD_\Omega k^2.$$
(33)

The diffusivity D_{Ω} of this last mode is the speed of the unrelaxed sound mode (20) squared, divided by the superfluid relaxation rate Ω . A diffusive mode with a large diffusivity, of order $D_{\Omega} \sim 1/\Omega$, should have been anticipated on general grounds in order for the finite dc conductivity (29) to obey an Einstein relation. That is (to leading order as $\Omega \to 0$)

$$\sigma_{\rm dc} = \frac{T \det \chi}{c_{\mu}} D_{\Omega} \,. \tag{34}$$

This expression is very much in the spirit of classic studies of the BKT phase in two dimensional superconductors, such as [37], that obtain the conductivity in terms of a 'vortex mobility' proportional to Ω . Note that any 'pinning forces' have already been accounted

for by working in the incoherent limit with no conserved momentum. Note also that it is Ω rather than the intrinsic diffusivity γ in (26) that determines the dominant dissipative motion of the vortices here.

As in our discussion in the previous section of normal modes without vortices, the (now diffusive) charge-carrying mode is gapped by dynamical Coulomb interactions. However, also as above, because the conductivity is defined as the current induced by the total (rather than external) electrical field, optical and dc conductivities are computed from the unscreened Green's functions. Electromagnetism also alters the long range interactions between vortices. This can be ignored so long as the sample is sufficiently thin [57].

3.2 Supercurrent relaxation from the memory matrix

A formula for Ω can be obtained using the memory matrix method. This method will be useful if the underlying Hamiltonian of the system can be written as

$$H = H_0 + \varepsilon \Delta H \,, \tag{35}$$

such that

$$[H_0, J_\phi] = 0, \qquad \text{but} \qquad \dot{J}_\phi = \varepsilon \, i[\Delta H, J_\phi] \neq 0. \tag{36}$$

Here J_{ϕ} is the total supercurrent operator, to be defined more precisely below, and ε is, for the moment, a formal small expansion parameter. The point is that we wish to treat the supercurrent-relaxing physics perturbatively. In the theory with $\varepsilon = 0$ the supercurrent is conserved and hence $\Omega = 0$. The memory matrix formalism will now allow us to obtain a perturbative formula for Ω , which will be of order ε^2 .

The electrical conductivity is given by [35]

$$\sigma_{JJ}(\omega) = \sum_{CD} \chi_{JC} \left(\frac{1}{-i\omega\chi + M(\omega) + N} \right)_{CD} \chi_{DJ} \,. \tag{37}$$

Here the sum runs over both the long lived operator (the total supercurrent J_{ϕ}) as well as the external hydrodynamic current (the total electric current J). That is, $\{C, D\} \in \{J, J_{\phi}\}$. The first thing that (37) says is that the weight of the Drude-like peak in the conductivity is given by the χ 's. We will see that these determine the overlap between the various current operators with the supercurrent. The width and location of the peak are determined by the matrices M and N.

We proceed to define χ, M, N . We give more general definitions than are needed in this section, for later use. In particular, the formulae quoted hold in the absence of time-reversal invariance.

The static susceptibility of two operators C and D is given in terms of the retarded Green's function as

$$\chi_{CD} \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\operatorname{Im} G_{CD}^{R}(\omega) + \operatorname{Im} G_{DC}^{R}(\omega) \right) \frac{d\omega}{\omega}$$
(38)

$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\operatorname{Im} G_{CD}^{R}(\omega, B) + \eta_{C} \eta_{D} \operatorname{Im} G_{CD}^{R}(\omega, -B) \right) \frac{d\omega}{\omega}.$$
(39)

The second line here reminds us that in the absence of time reversal, e.g. in the presence of a magnetic field B, the two terms in the integrand are not always equal. $\eta_{C/D}$ are ± 1 depending on whether the operators are even or odd under time reversal. The susceptibilities as defined above are equal to the thermodynamic susceptibilities [35]. They are symmetric, even without time reversal symmetry: $\chi_{CD} = \chi_{DC}$. Let us write

$$\chi_{JJ_{\phi}} = \frac{1}{m}, \qquad \chi_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} = \frac{1}{\rho_s}.$$

$$\tag{40}$$

These should be taken to be the definitions of m and ρ_s in this approach.

The matrix N is given by (note the time derivative on one of the operators)

$$N_{CD} \equiv \chi_{C\dot{D}} = -\chi_{\dot{C}D} \,. \tag{41}$$

In the present, time-reversal invariant case, N = 0. All $\{C, D\} \in \{J, J_{\phi}\}$ are odd under time reversal. Therefore the derivative \dot{C} has the opposite time reversal transformation to D and hence their overlap in a time-reversal invariant state is zero.

The memory matrix M is given by

$$M_{CD}(\omega) \equiv \frac{i}{T} \left(\dot{C} \mid \mathcal{Q} \frac{1}{\omega - \mathcal{Q}L\mathcal{Q}} \mathcal{Q} \mid \dot{D} \right).$$
(42)

We will not need to define the inner product of operators (A|B) here, see [35]. The quantum Liouville operator $L = [H, \bullet]$. All we need to know about the projection operator Q is that, with respect to this inner product, it projects onto the space of operators orthogonal to the set $\{J, J_{\phi}\}$ that are being summed over in the basic expression (37). In a time-reversal invariant state, it can be shown that, working to leading nontrivial order in ε , the projection operators have no effect, and one can set Q = 1. The argument leading to this conclusion is not as simple as has been claimed in past works. We give a correct argument in appendix A. With the projectors set to unity, one has [35]

$$M_{CD}(\omega) = \frac{1}{i\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\operatorname{Im} G^{R}_{\dot{C}\dot{D}}(\omega') \, d\omega'}{\omega'(\omega' - \omega)} \,. \tag{43}$$

The integral is regularized by taking ω to have a small positive imaginary part. We will only need the result for small frequencies. Standard Kubo-formula type manipulations give

$$M_{CD}(0) = \lim_{\omega \to 0} \frac{\operatorname{Im} G^{R}_{\dot{C}\dot{D}}(\omega)}{\omega} \,. \tag{44}$$

With time reversal invariance, the memory matrix is symmetric: $M_{CD} = M_{DC}$.

One more quantity that will be useful to introduce is the 'incoherent susceptibility' [39]

$$\chi_{JJ}^{\text{inc.}} = \chi_{JJ} - \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \,. \tag{45}$$

This is the susceptibility of the incoherent current operator $J^{\text{inc.}} \equiv J - \frac{\rho_s}{m} J_{\phi}$.

The crucial point is that the memory matrix is proportional to the time derivative of operators. Components of this matrix are therefore small if the corresponding operators are long-lived. In particular, $M_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon^2$ follows immediately from the definition (44) together with the fact that J_{ϕ} is long-lived according to (36). This observation allows us to consider the following scaling limit of the full expression (37) as $\varepsilon \to 0$:

$$\omega \sim M_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon^2, \qquad M_{JJ_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon^2, \qquad \chi_{JJ}^{\text{inc.}} \sim \frac{1}{\varepsilon}.$$
 (46)

All other quantities remain order one. Two comments are in order. Firstly, one might have anticipated $M_{JJ_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon$, because J is not a long-lived operator. However, in appendix A we show that in some generality, in fact $M_{JJ_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon^2$. An analogous fact was noted in [50]. Secondly, the final assumption that the incoherent susceptibility be large is not essential, but is needed in order for the incoherent contribution to the conductivity – σ_0 in (28) – to appear at the same order in ε as the fluctuating superfluid contribution. This limit thereby avoids ambiguities in the incoherent contribution due to spectral weight transfer from the Drude peak [58, 59]. A similar, but slightly different, limit was considered in [52].

In the scaling limit (46) the memory matrix expression (37) recovers the hydrodynamic result (28)

$$\sigma = \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{1}{-i\omega + \Omega} + \sigma_0 \,, \tag{47}$$

but now with the microscopic formulae for Ω and σ_0 :

$$\Omega = \varepsilon^2 \rho_s \lim_{\omega \to 0} \frac{\operatorname{Im} G^R_{i[\Delta H, J^x_{\phi}] \, i[\Delta H, J^x_{\phi}]}(\omega)}{\omega} \bigg|_{\varepsilon = 0} , \qquad (48)$$

and

$$\sigma_0 = \frac{\left(\chi_{JJ}^{\text{inc.}}\right)^2}{M_{JJ}(0)} \,. \tag{49}$$

The thermoelectric and thermal conductivities, (17) and (18), are also reproduced. The retarded Green's function on the right hand side of (48) is to be evaluated in the unperturbed theory with a conserved supercurrent operator. This type of formula for Ω goes back to the seminal work [60]. See also [61] for a helpful discussion. The central and useful fact is that Ω depends on a correlation function of \dot{J}_{ϕ} , the time derivative of a long lived operator,

as opposed to the conductivity itself which is just given by the correlation function of J. For recent uses of this type of formula in the case of slow momentum relaxation, see e.g. [49, 50, 51, 52]. Supercurrent relaxation in one spatial dimension has been described in this language in [48].

To evaluate the key formula (48) we must of course specify ΔH . We first discuss J_{ϕ} . The supercurrent density operator is defined outside of the vortex cores to be the gradient of the local phase of the order parameter

$$j_{\phi} = \frac{1}{m} \nabla \phi \,. \tag{50}$$

(Note that j_{ϕ} refers to the operator, while above $u_{\phi} = \langle j_{\phi} \rangle$). As discussed below (23) above, this is not a globally defined operator in the presence of the vortices. However, it is well defined outside of the vortex cores, allowing for windings of the phase, in which we identify $\phi \sim \phi + 2\pi$. The total supercurrent operator which is to be relaxed is then (we will be interested in the case of two spatial dimensions)

$$J_{\phi} = \frac{1}{m} \int_{T^2 \setminus \{\text{vortex cores}\}} d^2 x \nabla \phi \,. \tag{51}$$

Here we have placed the theory on a spatial torus. This is the standard way to describe a supercurrent, which becomes the winding of the phase around the torus. The expressions (50) and (51) are also the definition of the mass scale m (we will see below that this is the same as defining 1/m to be the susceptibility $\chi_{JJ_{\phi}}$).

We have just seen that J_{ϕ} is defined in terms of the local phase of the superfluid order parameter. Now, the momentum conjugate to this phase is the charge density ρ .² That is, at equal times,

$$[\phi(x), \rho(y)] = i\delta(x - y).$$
(52)

Therefore, it is natural to build operators that do not commute with the supercurrent (51) out of the charge density. Evaluating the commutator can be subtle, however, because the supercurrent operator (51) is the integral of a total derivative. The operator is not zero because ϕ admits a shift symmetry and can therefore have winding when placed on a spatial torus. We will need to find interactions that can have a nontrivial commutator with the total derivative operator J_{ϕ} . In the first case we consider, the vortex cores, which define boundaries of the region where the phase is defined, will be crucial.

Before moving on to describe the first example of an interaction ΔH , we should pause to summarize where we are. Our entry point was the assumption that the system could

²Using the Josephson relation (13), the conjugate momentum $\pi_{\phi} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial \dot{\phi}} = -\frac{\partial f}{\partial \mu} = \rho$.

approximately be described by superfluid hydrodynamics. By considering 'incoherent' hydrodynamics, without a long lived momentum density, we have essentially integrated out the effects of disorder from the start. The incoherent ('diffusive') part of the conductivities (19) could be metallic or insulating; it does not matter at this point, because our assumption is that the dc conductivity (29) is dominated by the long lived supercurrent. It should be clear from the expression for the supercurrent relaxation rate (48) that we are considering quantum phase-disordering processes. We are not considering 'paraconductivity' physics in which the superfluid itself fluctuates into existence above the critical temperature. Similarly, 'amplitude fluctuations' of the order parameter below the critical temperature do not relax the supercurrent and their effects are implicitly contained in the χ, M, N matrices.

3.3 Supercurrent relaxation from short range charge density interactions

In the search for interactions ΔH that weakly degrade the supercurrent, we will pursue an effective field theory approach. That is, we will write down simple interactions that are consistent with the symmetries of the long wavelength superfluid hydrodynamics. The coupling constants of these interactions will be undetermined numbers, but are generically expected to be nonzero. For this approach to be consistent, we must check that indeed the effects of these interactions can be captured perturbatively when the coupling constants are small. They will then describe a theoretically controlled perturbation of the low energy superfluid hydrodynamics. In this work we will focus on two natural and interesting interactions. Given the plethora of experimental systems of interest discussed in section 1.1 above, it will be important to search for further mechanisms in the future. Within the effective field theoretic framework developed in this paper, it may be possible to perform this search systematically. See the final discussion section 6, where we also discuss percolation scenarios.

The most universal term (in the sense of being least sensitive to short distance details) we have found is perhaps the Chern-Simons interaction described below in section 5. That term, however, breaks parity and therefore requires a more complicated hydrodynamic description, that we develop below. In this section we will consider a particular ΔH that preserves parity and time reversal and is therefore present even in the absence of a magnetic field. One upshot of our discussion here will be an elegant rederivation of established results for the resistivity due to flux flow in a BKT phase (e.g. [37, 36]). This gives – among other things – a sanity check for our approach.

A number of previous works have studied microscopic models for the competition be-

tween phase coherence and Coulomb interactions – in particular with a view to accessing the low temperature quantum regime, e.g. [5, 6, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 10, 69]. Our approach here is a bit different. We are looking for interactions in an effective low energy Hamiltonian that can consistently be treated as small perturbations of a superfluid state. It is not a priori obvious that such interactions exist. Consider, then, the following short range density-density interaction.

$$\Delta H = \frac{\lambda}{2} \int d^2 x \,\rho(x)^2 \,. \tag{53}$$

This term will typically be present in the low energy description, as often ρ^2 is just the kinetic term for the phase, because $\rho = \pi_{\phi} \sim \dot{\phi}$. See e.g. [5, 62, 63]. Such a term drives the fluctuation dynamics in the numerical study [70]. In some microscopic models, for instance those involving Josephson junction arrays [71, 6], the kinetic term that initially appears is instead $\int d^2 x \, (\nabla \rho)^2$. However, such a term in the Hamiltonian will generate the more relevant 'on-site' or 'self-charging' term (53) under renormalization group flow. In fact, assuming that charge interactions are local in the effective theory, λ is just the inverse of the charge susceptibility $\lambda = \chi_{\rho\rho}^{-1}$. This follows from using the linearized relation $\delta \rho = \chi_{\rho\rho} \, \delta \mu$ in the energy density of (53) and comparing with the expected free energy density $f = \cdots + \frac{1}{2} \chi_{\rho\rho} \, (\delta \mu)^2$.

Using the canonical commutation relation (52) one straightforwardly obtains

$$\dot{J}_{\phi} = i[\Delta H, J_{\phi}] = \frac{\lambda}{m} \int_{T^2 \setminus \{\text{vortex cores}\}} d^2 x \, \nabla \rho(x) \tag{54}$$

$$= -\frac{\lambda}{m} \int_{\{\text{vortex cores}\}} d^2 x \, \nabla \rho(x) \,. \tag{55}$$

To obtain the second line we use the fact that the charge density ρ is a single valued operator over the whole spatial torus. Therefore $\int_{T^2} d^2x \,\nabla\rho(x) = 0$. We immediately learn from (55) that the superfluid relaxation is going to depend only on the normal state dynamics of the vortex interior. This conclusion will still hold if we replace (53) with any local charge density interactions. It is an intuitively physically reasonable fact: heat is generated as the vortices are pushed around, but because the exterior superfluid is non-dissipative, the rate at which this heat is generated depends on the internal degrees of freedom of the vortex.³ Furthermore, equations (54) and (55) show transparently that, while the vortex core dynamics determines the superfluid relaxation, dissipation will occur equally inside and outside of the cores, c.f. [36, 72].

³Vortices that have been pinned by disorder or by freezing into a lattice do not contribute to superfluid relaxation in (55). We can think of them as corresponding to regions where $m = \infty$.

Inserting the result for the commutator (55) into the expression for the superfluid relaxation rate (48), and dropping the formal expansion parameter ε , we obtain

$$\Omega = \frac{\lambda^2 \rho_s}{m^2} n_f \int_{\text{core}} d^2 x \int_{\text{core}} d^2 y \int \frac{d^2 k}{(2\pi)^2} e^{ik \cdot (x-y)} \frac{k^2}{2} \lim_{\omega \to 0} \frac{\text{Im} G^R_{\rho\rho}(\omega, k)}{\omega} \,. \tag{56}$$

Here we have made the plausible approximation that the only charge density correlations are within a single given vortex. Thus we limit the integration to a single vortex and multiply by the prefactor n_f , which is the density of free vortices (that is, the density of all vortices with any sign for the vorticity – this quantity does not break parity). We have also used rotational invariance to replace $k_x^2 \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}k^2$ inside the integral. The above formula should be valid so long as $\Omega \ll k_B T$. More precisely, Ω should be much smaller than typical non-hydrodynamic relaxation rates for current density excitations. Factors that help the validity of the computation include a small coupling λ and a small superfluid density ρ_s .

If the vortex core size is set by microscopic scales, then the expression (56) is as far as we can go without a complete microscopic theory. In that case, the superfluid relaxation rate is set by non-universal short distance physics.⁴ We can do better, however, if the vortex core is sufficiently large that the interior can be treated as the normal state in thermal equilibrium. In this case, neglecting thermoelectric effects (cf. [34]), the low energy density-density correlation function will have the diffusive form

$$G^R_{\rho\,\rho}(\omega,k) = \frac{k^2 D\chi_{\rho\rho}}{-i\omega + Dk^2}\,.$$
(57)

The normal state charge diffusivity D here is related to the normal state conductivity by the Einstein relation $\sigma_n = D\chi_{\rho\rho}$. The susceptibility $\chi_{\rho\rho}$ is also now that of the normal state. With the Green's function (57) we easily obtain from (56) that

$$\Omega = \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \frac{n_f \pi r_v^2}{2\sigma_{\rm n}} \,. \tag{58}$$

Here r_v is the radius of the vortex. We have used the fact, noted above, that $\lambda = \chi_{\rho\rho}^{-1}$. The susceptibility is position-dependent in the presence of vortices (normal state inside, superfluid state outside). All of the derivations above go through in the presence of a spatially dependent coupling λ . Inside the vortex, the susceptibilities of course take the

⁴In fact, in two circumstances the low energy spectral weight $\lim_{\omega\to 0} \operatorname{Im} G^R_{\rho\rho}(\omega, k)/\omega$, appearing in (56), is a universal quantity even at microscopic wavevector k [50]. The first is with Fermi surface kinematics and $k \leq 2k_F$. The second is with (semi-)local quantum criticality, with dynamical critical exponent $z = \infty$. In these cases an interesting universal Ω – distinct from the Bardeen-Stephen formula that we rederive shortly in (58) – can be obtained even from microscopic vortices. This physics will be explored elsewhere.

normal state values. This discussion also goes through for sufficiently large Josephson vortices, because the core in the Josephson barrier will admit a diffusive mode.

The dc conductivity is now given by (29). In order to facilitate comparison with past work, we will use the fact that the vortex radius is approximately equal to the Ginzburg-Landau correlation length, $r_v \approx \xi_{\text{GL}}$, in regimes where that description is applicable (see e.g. [72]). We will furthermore restore, in the following formula only, factors of the charge e_* of the condensate that we will otherwise be setting to unity throughout. In particular, e_* appears multiplying the supercurrent operator (50). Thus we obtain

$$\sigma_{\rm dc} = \frac{2\sigma_{\rm n}}{\pi n_f \xi_{\rm GL}^2} \frac{e^2}{e_*^2}.$$
 (59)

The result (59) agrees exactly – setting $e_* = 2e$ – with that given in, for instance, equation (32a) of [37]. The fully quantum derivation given above shows how this result is ultimately connected to $\Delta\rho\Delta\phi \gtrsim \hbar$ physics in a rather universal way, through the effective coupling (53). The classical nature of the Bardeen-Stephen result has been recovered in taking the diffusive form (57) for the charge density correlations. Our treatment is valid away from this limit. We noted one circumstance where a more general formulation may be useful in footnote 4. In the discussion section 6 below we furthermore note that more general local interactions than (53) can lead to different, quantum, formulae for the rate of dissipation in the vortex core.

According to equation (59), the phase-disordering interaction (53) can lead to a finite and nonzero dc conductivity at $T \to 0$ only if (i) there is a density n_f of mobile vortices and (ii) the residual normal state resistivity σ_n is finite and nonzero. While the normal state is insulating in two dimensions, zero conductivity is only realized at exponentially large distance scales, greater than the size of the vortex cores. Whether vortices proliferate or not at a given temperature involves BKT-type dynamics beyond the hydrodynamic approach taken here [2]. The presence of vortices is a topological fact assumed in our argument above (we do not have a general formula for n_f). The expression (58) can also be applied in sufficiently weak magnetic fields, where vortices will certainly be present. The question is then whether or not these vortices are mobile. Vortices are not expected to be mobile at T = 0, even with a magnetic field [26, 27].

In the following section we will consider a parity-violating interaction that leads to a relaxation rate that is not determined entirely by vortex core dynamics. This is possible for nonlocal interactions ΔH . Whereas any local interaction of the charge density will lead to a dissipation rate given by formulae analogous to (56) – involving an integration over

the vortex core – nonlocal interactions can 'undo' the total derivative in the supercurrent (51). The objective is to find a nonlocal interaction that leads to a finite and nonzero Ω . An example of a (parity invariant) term that does not work is an unscreened Coulomb interaction in the effective low energy theory:

$$\Delta H = \frac{\lambda}{2} \int \frac{d^2k}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{\rho_{-k}\rho_k}{k^2} \,. \tag{60}$$

One can show that this term leads to a relaxation rate Ω that depends upon all of space, not just the vortex cores. However, the expression for Ω diverges upon taking the $\omega \to 0$ limit in (48). This does not mean that unscreened Coulomb interactions necessarily destroy superfluidity, just that their effects cannot be computed in the perturbative memory matrix approach. Coulomb interactions are certainly expected to be screened in the low energy effective theory.

4 Parity-violating superfluid hydrodynamics with vortices

Magnetic fields play a central role in many of the experimental systems exhibiting quantum phase fluctuations, as we described in the introduction. In these cases, parity and time reversal symmetries are both broken. This leads to the possibility of additional supercurrentrelaxing terms in the effective Hamiltonian and also modifies the structure of the underlying superfluid hydrodynamics.

4.1 Hydrodynamic conductivities without parity

In the absence of parity, new terms are allowed in the hydrodynamic constitutive relations. Firstly, the vortex current can now be written as

$$j_v^i - \frac{m}{2\pi} \Omega \epsilon^{ij} u_\phi^j - \frac{m}{2\pi} \Omega^H u_\phi^i = -\frac{s_v}{2\pi} \nabla^i T - \frac{\rho_v}{2\pi} \nabla^i \mu - \gamma \nabla^i n_v + \cdots .$$
(61)

The new terms – relative to (26) – on the right hand side express the fact that thermal and chemical potential gradients will drive a flow of vortices. The coefficients s_v and ρ_v are determined by the entropy and charge at the vortex core relative to the superfluid. They are also proportional to the net vorticity and therefore can only be present if parity is broken. The coefficients s_v and ρ_v are properties of the hydrodynamics at zeroth order in derivatives (because j_v itself is first order, see (25) above). Thus we can anticipate the fact that these coefficients will be given by thermodynamic susceptibilities below. The factors of 2π are to clean up formulae below. On the left hand side of the equation we have included an additional 'force' term that is allowed once parity is broken. We will obtain general expressions for Ω and Ω^H below, using memory matrix techniques. In the following section 5 we will develop an explicit example. There is something of a choice in (61) to parametrize the breaking of the Josephson relation – in the sense of equation (27) – via the two quantities Ω and Ω_H . This choice will be seen to capture the physics correctly, although the concrete model of section 5 works slightly differently due to a long-range superfluid-degrading interaction.

The constitutive relations for the charge and heat currents are also modified to allow for parity-violating terms. These include new non-dissipative terms that are obtained as described below equation (14) above. We have

$$j^{i} - \frac{\rho_{s}}{m} \left(\delta^{ij} - \rho_{v} \epsilon^{ij} \right) u^{j}_{\phi} = -\hat{\alpha}^{ij}_{1} \nabla^{j} s - \hat{\alpha}^{ij}_{2} \nabla^{j} \rho + \cdots, \qquad (62)$$

$$\frac{1}{T}j^{Q\,i} + \frac{\rho_s}{m}s_v\epsilon^{ij}u^j_{\phi} = -\hat{\beta}^{ij}_1\nabla^j s - \hat{\beta}^{ij}_2\nabla^j \rho + \cdots .$$
(63)

Here the hats indicate that the quantity is a matrix, so that

$$\hat{\alpha}_{a}^{ij} = \alpha_{a}\delta^{ij} + \alpha_{a}^{H}\epsilon^{ij}, \qquad \hat{\beta}_{a}^{ij} = \beta_{a}\delta^{ij} + \beta_{a}^{H}\epsilon^{ij}, \qquad (64)$$

with a = 1, 2. We noted below (24) above the vortex density itself is already first order in the hydrodynamic expansion. It follows that gradients of the vortex density are subleading compared to other density gradients and so we have not included them in the constitutive relations (62) and (63).

The full set of equations to solve is then the above three constitutive relations, as well as the conservation laws and Josephson relation (these are not changed from the parityinvariant case above). By manipulating these equations we can obtain the longitudinal conductivities via the procedure described around (15) above. The answers are

$$\sigma = \frac{\rho_s \left(1 + \rho_v^2\right)}{m^2} \frac{-i\omega + \Omega}{\left(-i\omega + \Omega\right)^2 + \left(\Omega^H\right)^2} + \sigma_0, \qquad (65)$$

$$\alpha_{\pm} = \frac{\rho_s s_v}{m^2} \frac{\rho_v \left(-i\omega + \Omega\right) \pm \Omega^H}{\left(-i\omega + \Omega\right)^2 + \left(\Omega^H\right)^2} + \alpha_0, \qquad (66)$$

$$\overline{\kappa} = \frac{\rho_s T s_v^2}{m^2} \frac{-i\omega + \Omega}{\left(-i\omega + \Omega\right)^2 + \left(\Omega^H\right)^2} + \overline{\kappa}_0.$$
(67)

The incoherent parts $\sigma_0, \alpha_0, \overline{\kappa}_0$ are defined as in equation (19) above. The thermoelectric conductivities α_{\pm} refer to those obtained from the retarded Green's functions $G_{jQ_j}^R(\alpha_{\pm})$ and $G_{jjQ}^R(\alpha_{\pm})$, respectively. The expressions for α_{\pm} are consistent with the Onsager relations as follows. If we think of the time reversal and parity violation as ultimately coming from a background magnetic field, then in the above equations s_v and ρ_v are not proportional to the magnetic field whereas Ω^H is. This is why Ω^H changes sign upon transposing the matrix of linear response functions.

The Hall conductivities are similarly obtained as

$$\sigma^{H} \equiv \sigma_{xy} = \frac{\rho_s \left(1 + \rho_v^2\right)}{m^2} \frac{\Omega^{H}}{\left(-i\omega + \Omega\right)^2 + \left(\Omega^{H}\right)^2} + \sigma_0^{H}, \qquad (68)$$

$$\alpha_{\pm}^{H} \equiv \alpha_{xy} = \frac{\rho_s s_v}{m^2} \frac{\mp (-i\omega + \Omega) + \rho_v \Omega^H}{(-i\omega + \Omega)^2 + (\Omega^H)^2} + \alpha_0^H, \qquad (69)$$

$$\overline{\kappa}^{H} \equiv \overline{\kappa}_{xy} = \frac{\rho_s T s_v^2}{m^2} \frac{\Omega^H}{\left(-i\omega + \Omega\right)^2 + \left(\Omega^H\right)^2} + \overline{\kappa}_0^H \,. \tag{70}$$

The 'incoherent' terms in the above expression again correspond to the finite Hall conductivities $(\sigma_0^H, \alpha_0^H, \overline{\kappa}_0^H)$ in the theory without superfluid relaxation.

From (65) and (68), the dc electrical conductivity can be compactly written in the complexified form

$$\sigma_{\rm dc}^{H} + i\,\sigma_{\rm dc} = \frac{\rho_s(1+\rho_v^2)}{m^2} \frac{\Omega^H + i\,\Omega}{\Omega^2 + (\Omega^H)^2} + \sigma_0^H + i\,\sigma_0\,. \tag{71}$$

Inverting the conductivity matrix gives the resistivities

$$\rho = \frac{m^2}{\rho_s (1 + \rho_v^2)} \Omega + \cdots, \qquad \rho^H = -\frac{m^2}{\rho_s (1 + \rho_v^2)} \Omega^H + \cdots.$$
(72)

Here we have not written out the incoherent contribution (it will typically be subdominant in the limit of weak superfluid relaxation, although see the discussion around (46) above). It is also instructive to obtain the fluctuating superfluid contribution to the Nernst signal

$$e_N \equiv -\left(\hat{\rho}\,\hat{\alpha}_-\right)_{yx} = \frac{s_v}{1+\rho_v^2}\,. \tag{73}$$

Here hats indicate that we consider the matrix of conductivities. The final expression is independent of Ω and Ω^{H} , and directly relates the Nernst signal to vortex physics in the way one expects, cf. [55].

A further interesting observable is the Lorenz ratio L. Previously in (30) we found that $L \ll 1$ for the obvious reason that the electrical conductivity was large due to the longlived supercurrent whereas the thermal conductivity was not. This simple argument will not apply with broken parity. We see in (67) and (70) that, due to the entropy carried by the vortices, the thermal conductivity is also enhanced by the fluctuating superconductivity. However, for the Lorenz ratio one needs the open circuit thermal conductivities. The matrix of open circuit conductivities is given by $\hat{\kappa} = \hat{\kappa} - T\hat{\alpha}_+ \hat{\rho}\hat{\alpha}_-$. As previously, hats denote matrices of conductivities. Using the formulae (65) to (70) for the conductivities one quickly finds that the fluctuating superfluid contributions precisely cancel, so that $\hat{\kappa}$ is not in fact enhanced. It follows that, with long-lived supercurrents,

$$L \equiv \frac{\kappa}{\sigma T} \ll 1, \qquad L^H \equiv \frac{\kappa^H}{\sigma^H T} \ll 1.$$
(74)

This cancellation parallels that noted in [73] for the case of a long-lived momentum. The open circuit boundary conditions project out the long-lived modes from the thermal current.

The physics underlying the above formulae for the conductivities is straightforward. The first effect one sees is that – in the absence of superfluid degradation, i.e. $\Omega = \Omega^H = 0$ – the vortex quantities s_v and ρ_v have resulted in a proliferation of divergent transport coefficients. This is because external temperature gradients and electric fields now give rise to vortex current flow, according to (61), and the vortex current flow in turn couples to the non-dissipative supercurrent flow, according to (25). This effect and several others are transparent if the above results are recast in the language of the memory matrix.

4.2 Memory matrix description

The formulae of the previous subsection can be recovered using the memory matrix approach. This works similarly to the discussion in section 3.2 above, and once again leads to explicit microscopic formulae for the decay rates (now Ω and Ω^H) as well as the incoherent conductivities.

In the parity and time-reversal non-invariant case, it is instructive to consider the entire matrix of conductivities. The memory matrix formalism gives the conductivity σ_{AB} , where A, B can be the x or y components of the total electrical or heat currents $\{J, J^Q\}$, as [35]

$$\sigma_{AB}(\omega) = \sum_{CD} \chi_{AC} \left(\frac{1}{-i\omega\chi + M(\omega) + N} \right)_{CD} \chi_{DB} \,. \tag{75}$$

As previously, the sum runs over both the long lived operators and the hydrodynamic currents. The long lived operators are now $\{J_{\phi}^x, J_{\phi}^y\}$. That is, $\{C, D\} \in \{J, J^Q, J_{\phi}\}$. Both the x and y components of these operators appear.

The static susceptibilities are again given by equation (38) above. Several of the susceptibilities appearing in (75) can be used as the definition of the quantities m, ρ_s, s_v, ρ_v that appeared in hydrodynamics of the previous subsection. Specifically, let⁵

$$\chi_{J^i_{\phi}J^j_{\phi}} = \frac{1}{\rho_s} \delta^{ij}, \qquad \chi_{J^i_{\phi}J^j} = \frac{1}{m} \delta^{ij} + \frac{\rho_v}{m} \epsilon^{ij}, \qquad \chi_{J^i_{\phi}J^j_Q} = \frac{Ts_v}{m} \epsilon^{ij}. \tag{76}$$

⁵We have not allowed a δ^{ij} term in the final quantity $\chi_{J^i_{\phi}J^j_Q}$ in (76). That is, the supercurrent does not directly 'drag' a parallel thermal current. Such a coupling would violate the Josephson relation at zeroth order in the derivative expansion (leading to additional terms in (61)), and is disallowed by gauge invariance.

These quantities are defined in the full theory with superfluid relaxation. With the definitions in (76), one can immediately see that the weights of the Drude-like peaks in the conductivities (65) through (70) are recovered from (75). Recall that in the Kubo formula for the thermoelectric and thermal conductivities, the current-current Green's function is divided by temperature. The susceptibilities show that these Drude peaks are determined by how the quantities m, ρ_s, s_v, ρ_v result in various components of the thermoelectric currents J and J_Q being 'dragged' by the supercurrent J_{ϕ} .

The full formula (75) is a little complicated, as it includes both the fluctuating superfluid modes and the incoherent contributions. As in section 3.2 above, the formula becomes useful once we zoom into the physics of the slowly decaying superfluid excitations. We can imagine two different small parameters, ε and η , so that

$$M_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} \sim M_{JJ_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon^2 , \qquad N_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} \sim N_{JJ_{\phi}} \sim \eta .$$
 (77)

We have already discussed the scaling of the components of M around equation (46) above and in the appendix. The new parameter η quantifies the extent of time reversal symmetry breaking (without which, all the components of N vanish). In order to bring out the physics in the cleanest possible way, we will take $\eta \sim \varepsilon^2$. With this scaling, various effects arise at the same order in an $\varepsilon \to 0$ expansion. In particular, taking $\omega \sim \varepsilon^2$, combined with the above scalings, in (75) leads precisely to the superfluid part of the hydrodynamic formulae for the thermoelectric conductivities (65) through (70) obtained above. One can also reproduce the incoherent hydrodynamic contributions at the same order in the scaling limit if the incoherent susceptibility is to taken to be large as in (46) above. Furthermore, the inverse lifetime and oscillation frequency of the collective mode are now given by

$$\Omega = \rho_s M_{J^x_\phi J^x_\phi}, \qquad (78)$$

$$\Omega^H = -\rho_s \left(M_{J^x_\phi J^y_\phi} + N_{J^x_\phi J^y_\phi} \right) \,. \tag{79}$$

In the low frequency scaling limit we have taken, ω may be set to zero in the memory matrix components $M_{J_{\phi}^{i}J_{\phi}^{j}}(\omega)$ appearing in the above formula. The expression for Ω is essentially that obtained previously in (48) above, while the expression for Ω^{H} is new. Given an explicit mechanism for superfluid relaxation, these microscopic formulae can in principle be evaluated to obtain, for instance, the dc resistivities via (72).

Beyond the dc resistivities, an interesting generic consequence of time-reversal-breaking fluctuating superconductivity – seen for instance in (65) and (68) – is the existence of what we might call a 'hydrodynamic supercyclotron' mode with complex frequencies

$$\omega_{\star} = \pm \Omega^H - i\Omega \,. \tag{80}$$

Depending on the relative values of Ω and Ω^H , however, a peak in the conductivity may or may not be visible at $\omega \sim \Omega^H$. Specifically, if $\Omega^H \leq \sqrt{3}\Omega$, the only visible feature is a Lorentzian-like peak at $\omega = 0$. This is illustrated in the figure 1 below. Interestingly,



Figure 1: **Optical conductivity for different values of** Ω^{H} . From bottom to top: $\Omega^{H} = \{0, \Omega/\sqrt{3}, \Omega\}$. In each plot Ω has been chosen so that $\sigma_{dc} = 1$, in units with $\rho_{s} (1 + \rho_{v}^{2})/m^{2} = 1$ in (65).

the InO_x optical conductivity data [29], discussed in the introduction, potentially shows a flattening in the Drude-like peak and the possible emergence of a maximum away from zero frequency as the magnetic field is increased.

The following section considers a particular instance of a simple parity-violating interaction that degrades supercurrent. This interaction will lead to $\eta \sim \varepsilon$ – rather than the $\eta \sim \varepsilon^2$ assumed for illustrative purposes below (77) – and thus the hydrodynamics is a little different to that developed above. That is to say, we will have $M \ll N$. Furthermore, special features of this interaction will allow us to obtain more exact results for the conductivity than are possible in general.

5 Supercurrent relaxation by a Chern-Simons interaction

Consider the nonlocal and parity-violating density-current interaction

$$\Delta H = \frac{\lambda'}{2} \int \frac{d^2k}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{\rho_{-k} \left(\nabla \times j\right)_k^z}{k^2} + \text{h.c.}$$
 (81)

The z superscript tells us to take the component orthogonal to the two dimensional plane. Here λ' is a dimensionless coupling. As before, we consider this interaction as a perturbation of the low energy effective description of the system in terms of superfluid hydrodynamics. There is a simple way that the new interaction (81) can arise when parity is broken. Suppose that the low energy description contains an emergent U(1) gauge field that couples to charged fields and furthermore has a Chern-Simons term. That is, we have the full Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{matter}} + j_{\mu}(A^{\mu} + a^{\mu}) - \frac{1}{2\lambda'} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} a_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} a_{\rho} \,. \tag{82}$$

Here A is the background electromagnetic field and a the emergent gauge field. In this theory the electromagnetic current j still corresponds to a global symmetry, while a linear combination of j with the topological current $j^{\mu}_{\text{top}} \equiv \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}\partial_{\nu}a_{\rho}$ is gauged. Integrating out the emergent gauge field (this requires gauge fixing to invert the propagator, as usual) generates the 'Hopf interaction' [74]

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{\lambda'}{2} j_{\mu} \frac{\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \partial_{\rho}}{\partial^{\sigma} \partial_{\sigma}} j_{\nu} \,. \tag{83}$$

The non-relativistic limit of this interaction gives the Hamiltonian (81), together with a current-current interaction that will not relax the superfluid efficiently.

The 'Chern-Simons interaction' (81) causes a time dependence in the supercurrent operator according to^6

$$i[\Delta H, J^i_{\phi}] = -\frac{\lambda'}{m} \lim_{k \to 0} \epsilon^{ij} j^{Tj} \,. \tag{84}$$

Here j^T is the transverse part of the electrical current, satisfying $\nabla \cdot j^T = 0$. While used in deriving (84), the distinction between longitudinal and transverse is not important at the end of the day because the k = 0 mode of the current can be considered as either longitudinal or transverse (strictly, it is the harmonic part of the current).

As in the previous case of equation (54), technically the right hand side of (84) should be the integral of the current outside of vortices. However, the essential difference with (54) is that \dot{J}_{ϕ} is not a total derivative in this case. The relaxation rate will be dominated by the contribution from throughout the superfluid rather than vortex cores. This will allow,

⁶The result (84) comes from the commutator of the supercurrent with the density operator ρ in the Hamiltonian (81). The commutator of the supercurrent with the current operator j in (81) – where j can be taken to have the form $j = m^{-1} (1 + \alpha \rho + \beta \rho^2 + \cdots) \nabla \phi$ – is subleading. This is because the terms in j that we have just written that involve ρ are nonlinear in hydrodynamic variables. Hydrodynamic correlators obey Gaussian factorization, and thus, upon taking the correlator (48) of $[\Delta H, J_{\phi}]$ to obtain the decay rate, nonlinear effects are suppressed by factors of (small) momenta times the correlation length. That is to say, we can neglect nonlinear terms for the same reason that we can focus on linearized hydrodynamics to obtain Green's functions.

below, the relaxation rate to be evaluated in terms of universal quantities that appear in the superfluid hydrodynamics.

The result (84) can be understood physically from the Chern-Simons term for the emergent gauge field (82). In particular, this perspective clarifies the role of vortices. This Chern-Simons term has two effects. The equations of motion following from (82) tie together the charge density with an emergent magnetic field b and the current density with an emergent electric field e:

$$b(x) = \lambda' \rho(x), \qquad e^{i}(x) = -\lambda' \epsilon^{ij} j^{j}(x).$$
(85)

The second of these equations is essentially (84): an electric current creates a transverse emergent electric field, which is in turn equivalent to a time-dependent phase gradient (as the emergent gauge potential will also now appear in the Josephson relation). As we noted above, topologically speaking, we expect a time-dependent phase gradient should involve vortex flow. The first equation in (85) shows this explicitly via the following steps. Firstly, electric current is of course the flow of charge density (via the conservation law $\dot{\rho} + \nabla \cdot j = 0$). The first equation in (85) shows that a flow of charge necessitates a flow of emergent magnetic flux. But this flux can only penetrate the superconductor by creating a vortex. Therefore, current flow is accompanied by vortex flow. The beautiful fact about the first equation in (85) is that it ties the presence of vortices directly to the hydrodynamic variable ρ . Thus, unlike in the case discussed in section 3.3, which required additional input from e.g. BKT theory to obtain the free vortex density n_F , the computation of Ω and Ω^H in the following sections will be self-contained within hydrodynamics.

Something close to the dynamics described above is realized in recent theories of the metallic 'vortex liquid' state [75, 76]. It is also interesting to note that the theory of anyon superconductivity (e.g. [77]) contains a non-relativistic Chern-Simons term that imposes the first but not the second of the equations in (85). Therefore, supercurrent is not relaxed in that theory (at least, not by this mechanism). Superfluid hydrodynamics with a topological term analogous to (83), but higher order in derivatives, was considered in [78]. That term does not relax the total supercurrent.

We will obtain the conductivity by two distinct methods. Firstly, from the memory matrix formalism together with the interaction (81), that leads to superfluid relaxation via (84). Second, by incorporating the effects of the emergent Chern-Simons gauge field directly into hydrodynamics.

5.1 Conductivities from the memory matrix

The memory matrix expression for the conductivity is again (75). Several simplifications and special features occur in the case of Chern-Simons relaxation. This is because the time derivative of the supercurrent in (84) is itself a hydrodynamic variable (the total electrical current). We can then do the following. Firstly, restrict attention to the electric conductivities, so that the external $\{A, B\}$ indices in (75) only run over the x and y components of the electric current J. The summed-over indices $\{C, D\}$ now need only run over the x and y components of $\{J_{\phi}, J\}$. It follows from the expression for the memory matrix in (42) that all components of the memory matrix involving J_{ϕ} vanish. This is because, from (84), $\dot{J}_{\phi} \sim J$, but the projector Q projects out both components of the J operator, and hence $Q|\dot{J}_{\phi}\rangle = 0 = (\dot{J}_{\phi}|Q$. That is, the memory matrix takes the form

$$M_{J^i J^j} \neq 0, \qquad M_{J^i_{\phi} J^j} = M_{J^i J^j_{\phi}} = M_{J^i_{\phi} J^j_{\phi}} = 0.$$
 (86)

Note the difference with the more typical case considered in section 4. The components of the memory matrix that typically control slow relaxation are in fact zero in this case.

The matrix N is computed in this case directly from the definition (41) and the formula (84) for \dot{J}_{ϕ} . We have (using isotropy and asymmetry of N)

$$N_{J^{i}J^{j}} = N_{J^{x}J^{y}} \epsilon^{ij}, \qquad N_{J^{i}_{\phi}J^{j}_{\phi}} = \frac{\lambda'}{m^{2}} \epsilon^{ij}, \qquad N_{J^{i}J^{j}_{\phi}} = -N_{J^{j}_{\phi}J^{i}} = -\frac{\lambda'}{m} \epsilon^{jk} \chi_{J^{i}J^{k}}.$$
(87)

The matrix of susceptibilities takes the form

$$\chi_{J^{i}J^{j}} = \chi_{J^{x}J^{x}} \,\delta^{ij} \,, \qquad \chi_{J^{i}J^{j}_{\phi}} = \chi_{J^{j}_{\phi}J^{i}} = \frac{1}{m} \delta^{ij} \,, \qquad \chi_{J^{i}_{\phi}J^{j}_{\phi}} = \frac{1}{\rho_{s}} \delta^{ij} \,. \tag{88}$$

To set the xy components to zero we firstly used isotropy and secondly, for $\chi_{J^x J^y_{\phi}}$, noted that $0 = N_{J^x J^x} = \frac{-\lambda'}{m} \chi_{J^x J^y_{\phi}}$. All of the above quantities, M, N and χ , are exact in λ' at this point, as all nonzero quantities that appear, $\{M_{J^i J^j}, N_{J^x J^y}, \chi_{J^x J^x}, m, \rho_s\}$, are evaluated in the theory with λ' .

Inserting the above expression in the memory matrix formula (75) and taking the d.c. limit $\omega \to 0$ one obtains

$$\sigma = 0, \qquad \sigma^H = -\frac{1}{\lambda'}. \tag{89}$$

This result is exact in λ' , i.e. we do not need to take λ' small. In fact, the result (89) has nothing to do with fluctuating superfluidity. It follows directly from the Chern-Simons Lagrangian (82), with no assumptions about whether the system is superfluid or not. To see this we can shift the emergent gauge field in (82) by $a \to a - A$. So it is a good thing

that the memory matrix reproduces this result. Fluctuating superfluidity, however, leaves a strong imprint on the frequency-dependent conductivity, as we now see.

The inverse matrix in (75) leads to a complicated ω dependence. The interesting physics we wish to zoom in on is the resonance that appears at small ω when λ' is small. Therefore we take the following scaling limit of (75) with as $\lambda' \to 0$:

$$\omega \sim \lambda', \qquad \chi_{\rm inc} \equiv \chi_{J_x J_x} - \frac{\rho_s}{m^2} \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda'}}.$$
 (90)

As in the previous discussion around (46) above, the second of these two scalings is not essential. However, it makes various expressions physically more transparent, allowing the 'incoherent' contribution to appear at the same order as the fluctuating superconductivity. In the present context, it also results in the width and location of the collective 'supercyclotron' mode scaling in the same way with λ' . Otherwise, the frequency (energy gap) of the mode is much greater than its inverse lifetime.

In this scaling limit (90) we obtain from (75)

$$\sigma = -\frac{m^2}{\lambda'^2 \rho_s} \frac{\omega(\omega \Omega + i(\Omega^2 + \Omega_H^2))}{(-i\omega + \Omega)^2 + \Omega_H^2} + \mathcal{O}\left((\lambda')^0\right), \qquad (91)$$

$$\sigma^{H} = -\frac{1}{\lambda'} - \frac{m^2}{\lambda'^2 \rho_s} \frac{\omega^2 \Omega_H}{(-i\omega + \Omega)^2 + \Omega_H^2} + \mathcal{O}\left((\lambda')^0\right), \qquad (92)$$

with

$$\Omega = \frac{\lambda'^2 \rho_s}{m^2} \frac{\chi_{\rm inc}^2 M_{J^x J^x}}{M_{J^x J^x}^2 + (M_{J^x J^y} + N_{J^x J^y})^2}$$
(93)

$$\equiv \frac{\lambda'^2 \rho_s}{m^2} \frac{\sigma_0}{(1 - \lambda' \sigma_0^H)^2 + (\lambda' \sigma_0)^2},\tag{94}$$

$$\Omega_H = \frac{\lambda' \rho_s}{m^2} \left(1 - \lambda' \frac{\chi_{\rm inc}^2 (M_{J^x J^y} + N_{J^x J^y})}{M_{J^x J^x}^2 + (M_{J^x J^y} + N_{J^x J^y})^2} \right)$$
(95)

$$\equiv \frac{\lambda' \rho_s}{m^2} \frac{1 - \lambda' \sigma_0^H}{(1 - \lambda' \sigma_0^H)^2 + (\lambda' \sigma_0)^2},\tag{96}$$

where to get the second equalities we identified the matrix $(\sigma_0)^{ij} = \sigma_0 \delta^{ij} + \sigma_0^H \epsilon^{ij}$ of incoherent conductivities as the inverse of the incoherent resistivity matrix

$$(\rho_0)_{ij} \equiv \frac{M_{J^i J^j} + N_{J^i J^j}}{\chi_{\rm inc}^2} - \lambda' \epsilon^{ij} \,. \tag{97}$$

Note that the $M_{J^iJ^j}$ appearing in the above expressions are all evaluated at $\omega = 0$. Any higher order in ω corrections are subleading in the limit (90).

The most distinctive feature of the above expressions is the appearance of what we have called a 'hydrodynamic supercyclotron' mode at frequencies

$$\omega_{\star} = \pm \Omega^{H} - i\Omega = \frac{\lambda' \rho_{s}}{m^{2}} \frac{\pm 1 - \lambda' (\pm \sigma_{0}^{H} + i\sigma_{0})}{(1 - \lambda' \sigma_{0}^{H})^{2} + (\lambda' \sigma_{0})^{2}} = \frac{\lambda' \rho_{s}}{m^{2}} \frac{1}{\pm 1 - \lambda' (\pm \sigma_{0}^{H} - i\sigma_{0})}.$$
 (98)

This mode has some similarities with the hydrodynamic cyclotron resonance discovered in [38, 79] and further investigated in [52]. In particular, in both cases, the lifetime of the mode depends upon the 'incoherent' conductivity σ_0 . However, the underlying physics is quite different. The supercyclotron mode above arises due to the motion of a superfluid condensate that has become phase-disordered due to the dynamics of vortices that carry magnetic flux of the emergent Chern-Simons field. To emphasize the formal analogy, however, in Appendix B we rederive the general magnetohydrodynamic results of [52] using the same memory matrix manipulations as have been performed in this section.

As we found previously, the supercyclotron mode is only visible as a feature in the optical conductivity if $\Omega^H > \Omega/\sqrt{3}$. The optical conductivity for Chern-Simons relaxation is shown in figure 2 below.



Figure 2: Chern-Simons optical conductivity for different values of Ω^H . From bottom to top: $\Omega^H = \{0, \Omega/\sqrt{3}, \Omega\}$. In each plot Ω has been chosen so that $\sigma(\omega \to \infty) = 1$, in units with $m^2/(\lambda'^2 \rho_s) = 1$ in (91).

Due to the particular features of the Chern-Simons interaction, in this case the collective phase-fluctuation mode (98) does not determine the dc conductivities (89). This is different to the more general parity-violating dc resistivities obtained in (72). In particular, the physics described in this section seems not to be the dominant phase-relaxing dynamics visible in the InO_x data of [29], that finds nonvanishing longitudinal dc conductivities, as well as $\Omega \gg \Omega^H$. Nonetheless, the phase of mater we have just characterized, a "topologically ordered superfluid vortex liquid", seems to involve plausible ingredients and will hopefully arise in other contexts. Finally, generalizations of the interaction (81) are likely to exist, involving for instance the energy rather than the charge current.

5.2 Chern-Simons superfluid hydrodynamics

An alternative method to obtain the conductivities is to study the hydrodynamics of a superfluid coupled to an emergent U(1) gauge field with a Chern-Simons term, as described by (82). Instead of integrating out the emergent gauge field a from the start to produce a Hopf term, as was done in the previous section, a is incorporated in the hydrodynamics with the replacement $A \to A^{\text{tot}} = A + a$. The effect of the Chern-Simons interaction is then accounted for by putting a_{μ} on shell in the constitutive relations and Josephson equation:

$$\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}\partial_{\nu}a_{\rho} = \lambda' j^{\mu} \,. \tag{99}$$

Concretely, this amounts to revisiting the hydrodynamics (62), (63) with the following replacement

$$E_i = -\nabla_i \mu \quad \longrightarrow \quad E_i^{\text{tot}} = E_i + e_i = -\nabla_i \mu - \lambda' \epsilon_{ij} j_j \,. \tag{100}$$

In this way, the constitutive relations and the Josephson relation become

$$j^{i} - \frac{\bar{\rho}_{s}}{m} \left(\delta^{ij} - \rho_{v} \epsilon^{ij} \right) u^{j}_{\phi} = -\hat{\sigma}^{ij}_{0} (\nabla^{j} \mu + \lambda' \epsilon^{jk} j^{k}) - \hat{\alpha}^{ij}_{0} \nabla^{j} T + \cdots, \qquad (101)$$

$$\frac{1}{T}j^{Q\,i} + \frac{\rho_s}{m}s_v\epsilon^{ij}u^j_{\phi} = -\hat{\alpha}^{ij}_0(\nabla^j\mu + \lambda'\epsilon^{jk}j^k) - (\hat{\kappa}^{ij}_0/T)\nabla^jT + \cdots, \qquad (102)$$

$$j_v^i = -\frac{s_v}{2\pi} \nabla^i T - \frac{\rho_v}{2\pi} \left(\nabla^i \mu + \lambda' \epsilon^{ik} j^k \right) - \gamma \nabla^i n_v + \cdots, \quad (103)$$

$$m\partial_t u^i_{\phi} = -\nabla^i \mu + \epsilon^{ij} (2\pi j^j_v - \lambda' j^j) + \cdots .$$
(104)

We have chosen to express the constitutive relations directly in terms of the matrices of incoherent conductivities $\hat{\sigma}_0$, $\hat{\kappa}_0$ rather than the diffusivities that were used in (62), (63). These are related via the Einstein relations (19). A bar has been placed over $\bar{\rho}_s$ as it will turn out shortly that, due to the extra j_i terms appearing in various places on the right hand side of the above equations, this quantity is no longer the superfluid density as defined via the susceptibility (88).

The electrical conductivities can then be obtained from the hydrodynamic equations of motion in the same way that we have done several times in this paper. The answers are

$$\sigma_{xx} = -\frac{m^2}{\lambda'^2 \bar{\rho}_s (1+\rho_v^2)} \frac{\omega(\omega\Omega + i(\Omega^2 + \Omega_H^2))}{(-i\omega + \Omega)^2 + \Omega_H^2}, \qquad (105)$$

$$\sigma_{xy} = -\frac{1}{\lambda'} - \frac{m^2}{\lambda'^2 \bar{\rho}_s (1+\rho_v^2)} \frac{\omega^2 \Omega_H}{(-i\omega+\Omega)^2 + \Omega_H^2}, \qquad (106)$$

with

$$\Omega = \frac{\lambda'^2 \bar{\rho}_s (1+\rho_v^2)}{m^2} \frac{\sigma_0}{(1-\lambda' \sigma_0^H)^2 + (\lambda' \sigma_0)^2},$$
(107)

$$\Omega_H = \frac{\lambda' \bar{\rho}_s (1 + \rho_v^2)}{m^2} \frac{1 - \lambda' \sigma_0^H}{(1 - \lambda' \sigma_0^H)^2 + (\lambda' \sigma_0)^2} \,. \tag{108}$$

These agree precisely with the memory matrix answers of the previous subsection – equations (91), (92), (94), (96) – upon making the identification: $\rho_s = \bar{\rho}_s (1 + \rho_v^2)$.

6 Discussion

We will end with a few brief comments on the results we have obtained.

Much of our discussion has been phrased in terms of hydrodynamics. By hydrodynamics we mean the long wavelength dynamics of conserved quantities and Goldstone bosons. However, the driving motor behind our main results is the memory matrix formalism. We could have dispensed with hydrodynamics altogether. We have kept the hydrodynamic perspective because it may be more familiar to readers and is arguably physically more transparent. We have seen, however, that in order to cleanly reproduce hydrodynamics, including the incoherent contributions, one needs to take a certain scaling limit of the memory matrix expressions. The memory matrix expressions are exact in the first instance, and one can then see unambiguously what approximations are required to recover the hydrodynamic answers. The memory matrix is a systematic tool for capturing the effects of long-lived excitations in a system.

To obtain the behavior of observables for specific phase-fluctuating systems – such as the temperature and magnetic field dependence of the dc conductivities – one needs firstly to know the supercurrent-relaxing interaction ΔH . We have investigated two such interactions, but other possibilities exist. In the cases we considered, the charge interacted with itself (as in the short range interaction we considered) or the electrical current (as in the Chern-Simons interaction we considered). However, one can imagine interactions of the charge density with other operators, of the form $\Delta H \sim \int d^2x \rho(x) \mathcal{O}(x)$, for some local operator $\mathcal{O}(x)$. This operator will then take the place of the charge density in the formula (56) for the supercurrent relaxation rate. Once the interaction itself is given, one must furthermore determine, for instance, the temperature dependence of the thermodynamic susceptibilities and other quantities appearing in formulae such as (58) or (107). However, even when this temperature dependence is not known, the formalism we have developed ties together a collection of distinct observables in terms of just a few quantities.

Among our more generic results is the prediction that the optical conductivity of phasedisordered superconductors with broken parity should reveal a 'hydrodynamic supercyclotron' mode at complex frequencies $\omega_{\star} = \pm \Omega^H - i\Omega$. We noted that if Ω^H is small (relative to Ω) the peak in the optical conductivity will still be centered at zero frequency, but will exhibit deviations from a simple Lorentzian form. This mode should be accessible to standard experimental probes.

Finally, an important scenario we have not considered is one in which the superconducting state is close to a percolation phase transition, with large normal state domains across the sample. In this case, quantum tunneling of vortices between closely spaced normal state domains gives a mechanism for supercurrent relaxation. This is distinct from the setup of section 3.3, as it does not require a density of free vortices. The vortices now only appear as virtual tunneling events. For this reason, it is a promising framework for relaxing the supercurrent even at zero temperature. Transport through such 'quantum melts' has been discussed in e.g. [80]. It will be interesting to re-investigate this scenario from the perspective of the memory matrix that we have developed. Such a calculation will be similar to the one-dimensional memory matrix computation of [48], as the tunneling occurs in the thin necks of superconductivity separating normal domains.

Acknowledgements

It is a pleasure to acknowledge helpful discussions with Ehud Altman, Peter Armitage, Aharon Kapitulnik, Steve Kivelson, Andrew Lucas, Akash Maharaj, Tyler Merz, Djordje Radicevic and Leo Radzihovsky. The work of B.G. is supported by the Marie Curie International Outgoing Fellowship nr 624054 within the 7th European Community Framework Programme FP7/2007-2013. The research of S.A.H. is partially supported by an Early Career Award from the US Department of Energy. The work of R.D. is supported by the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation EPiQS Initiative through Grant GBMF#4306.

A Proofs of memory matrix statements

A.1 Time reversal invariant case

In the presence of time-reversal symmetry, and for operators with the same sign under timereversal, the memory matrix result (37) can be somewhat simplified. First, N vanishes since it measures an overlap of two operators of opposite sign under time-reversal. Second, the Liouville operator $L = [H, \cdot]$ must act an even number of times in M(z) (42), so that

$$M_{CD}(\omega) = \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{C} \left| \frac{1}{1 - LQL/\omega^2} \right| \dot{D} \right) , \qquad (109)$$

where we also noted that the projection operator

$$Q = 1 - \frac{1}{T} \sum_{A,B} |A| \chi_{AB}^{-1}(B)$$
(110)

can be set to 1 when acting on \dot{C} or \dot{D} , by time-reversal symmetry. Since the hermitian operator L is anti-symmetric and Q is symmetric, (109) implies that here $M_{CD}(\omega)$ is symmetric.

Now in the case of interest we consider the operators $\{J, J_{\phi}\}$, with

$$\dot{J}_{\phi} = iLJ_{\phi} = i(L_0 + \varepsilon L_1)J_{\phi} = i\varepsilon L_1 J_{\phi} , \qquad (111)$$

whereas \dot{J} is generically of order unity. This implies

$$M_{JJ} \sim 1, \qquad M_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon^2, \qquad M_{JJ_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon^2;$$
 (112)

the first two relations are direct consequences of (111), and we now prove the third. Defining

$$L_{J_{\phi}} = [J_{\phi}, \bullet] \tag{113}$$

and noticing that

$$L|J_{\phi}) = |[H, J_{\phi}]) = -L_{J_{\phi}}|H), \qquad (114)$$

one has

$$M_{JJ_{\phi}}(\omega) = \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(J \left| L_0 \frac{1}{1 - L_0 \mathcal{Q} L_0 / \omega^2} L \right| J_{\phi} \right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$$

$$= \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(J \left| L_0 \frac{1}{1 - L_0 \mathcal{Q} L_0 / \omega^2} L_{J_{\phi}} \right| - \varepsilon H_1 \right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$$

$$= \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(J \left| L_{J_{\phi}} L_0 \frac{1}{1 - L_0 \mathcal{Q} L_0 / \omega^2} \right| - \varepsilon H_1 \right) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$$

$$= 0 + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2), \qquad (115)$$

where we used the fact that $L_{J_{\phi}}$ commutes with both L_0 and \mathcal{Q} , and the last step follows because J carries no winding of the superfluid phase, so⁷

$$L_{J_{\phi}}J = [J_{\phi}, J] = 0.$$
(116)

$$[J^{i}, J^{i}_{\phi}] = \int d^{2}x d^{2}y \,\partial_{y^{i}}[j^{i}(x), \phi(y)] = -\int d^{2}x d^{2}y \,\partial_{x^{i}}[j^{i}(x), \phi(y)] = \int d^{2}x d^{2}y \,\partial_{t}[\rho(x), \phi(y)] = 0.$$

⁷This can be seen explicitly: isotropy and parity require $[J^j, J^k_{\phi}] = \frac{1}{2} [J^i, J^i_{\phi}] \delta^{jk}$ and using the Ward identity one has

The memory matrix formula (37) can now be used to find the small imaginary pole in the conductivity $\operatorname{Im} \mathcal{O} = \langle \omega \rangle$

$$\Omega \simeq \rho_s \lim_{\omega \to 0} M_{J_\phi J_\phi}(\omega) \simeq \rho_s \lim_{\omega \to 0} \frac{\operatorname{Im} G_{j_\phi j_\phi}(\omega)}{\omega} \,. \tag{117}$$

The last step was accomplished by setting the remaining projection operator in (109) to $\mathcal{Q} \to 1$. Although this is not obvious from e.g. time-reversal symmetry alone, it is in fact correct to leading order in ε , as we now show. Let $\widetilde{M}_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}}$ be the matrix element evaluated with $\mathcal{Q} \to 1$. First notice that the definition (110) of \mathcal{Q} implies

$$LQL = L^2 - \frac{|\dot{J}\rangle(\dot{J}|}{\chi_{\rm inc}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon).$$
(118)

Using the short-hand notation

$$X = 1 - L^2 / \omega^2, \qquad Y = \frac{|\dot{J}\rangle(\dot{J}|}{T\omega^2 \chi_{\text{inc}}},$$
 (119)

one can write

$$M_{JJ}(\widetilde{M}_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} - M_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}}) = \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J} \left| \frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J} \right) \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J}_{\phi} \left| \frac{1}{X} - \frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J}_{\phi} \right)$$

$$= \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J} \left| \frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J} \right) \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J}_{\phi} \left| \frac{1}{X}Y\frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J}_{\phi} \right)$$

$$= \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J} \left| \frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J} \right) \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J}_{\phi} \left| \frac{1}{X}\frac{|\dot{J})(\dot{J}|}{T\omega^{2}\chi_{\text{inc}}}\frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J}_{\phi} \right)$$

$$= \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J}_{\phi} \left| \frac{1}{X}\frac{|\dot{J})(\dot{J}|}{T\omega^{2}\chi_{\text{inc}}}\frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J} \right) \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J} \left| \frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J}_{\phi} \right)$$

$$= \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J}_{\phi} \left| \frac{1}{X}Y\frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J} \right) \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J} \left| \frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J}_{\phi} \right)$$

$$= \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J}_{\phi} \left| \frac{1}{X} - \frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J} \right) \frac{i}{T\omega} \left(\dot{J} \left| \frac{1}{X+Y} \right| \dot{J}_{\phi} \right)$$

$$= M_{JJ_{\phi}} (\widetilde{M}_{JJ_{\phi}} - M_{JJ_{\phi}}),$$

where the algebraic identity

$$\frac{1}{X} - \frac{1}{X+Y} = \frac{1}{X}Y\frac{1}{X+Y}$$
(121)

was used twice. Since the right-hand side in (120) is $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^3)$, we have

$$M_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} = \widetilde{M}_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^3), \qquad (122)$$

showing explicitly that one can take $\mathcal{Q} \to 1$ in Eq. (117), to leading order in ε .

A.2 Non-time reversal invariant case

Without time reversal symmetry the projection operator \mathcal{Q} cannot be set to 1 (even perturbatively), as illustrated in Chern-Simons relaxation (86) where \mathcal{Q} entirely cancels $M_{JJ_{\phi}}$ and $M_{J_{\phi}J_{\phi}}$. However it is still true that $M_{JJ_{\phi}} \sim \varepsilon^2$, since the steps in Eq. (115) can be carried out with the general form (42) for M – all that is needed is that the operator $L_{J_{\phi}}$ commutes with both L_0 (supercurrent conserved in the original theory) and with \mathcal{Q} , which follows from $[J_{\phi}, J] = 0$.

B Magnetotransport revisited

The memory matrix method used in the text can also be applied to magnetotransport [52]. Here we will rederive some results from [52] using manipulations very similar to those of section 5.1 in the main text.

In magnetotranport, the role of the superfluid current is played by momentum, which is slowly relaxed by a small magnetic field according to:

$$\dot{P}^i = B\epsilon^{ij}J^j + \mathcal{O}(B^2).$$
(123)

The order B^2 term arises if P is the gauge invariant momentum [52], and only gives subleading contributions to the expressions below. This relaxation of momentum will resolve the delta function in the conductivities, as can be seen by using the memory matrix formula (75) where the indices $\{C, D\}$ now run over the operators $\{J, P\}$. Since the projector Qprojects out J, the components of the memory matrix take the form

$$M_{J^i J^j} \neq 0, \qquad M_{J^i P^j} = 0, \qquad M_{P^i P^j} = 0.$$
 (124)

The susceptibilities are given by (these are the definitions of Q and \mathcal{M})

$$\chi_{J^i J^j} = \chi_{J^x J^x} \,\delta^{ij} \,, \qquad \chi_{J^i P^j} = Q \,\delta^{ij} \,, \qquad \chi_{P^i P^j} = \mathcal{M} \,\delta^{ij} \,, \tag{125}$$

where the relaxation equation (123) forces $\chi_{J_x P_y} = 0$ (the same way that we noted a certain susceptibility was zero below equation (88) in the main text). The N matrix is given by

$$N_{J^iJ^j} = N_{J^xJ^y} \epsilon^{ij}, \qquad N_{J^iP^j} = -B\chi_{J^xJ^x} \epsilon^{ij}, \qquad N_{P^iP^j} = -BQ \epsilon^{ij}.$$
(126)

Inserting the above expressions in (75) gives the following d.c. conductivities

$$\sigma = 0, \qquad \sigma^H = \frac{Q}{B}. \tag{127}$$

The optical conductivities have a pair of cyclotron poles at $\omega_{\star} = \pm \Omega_H - i\Omega$ with

$$\Omega = \frac{B^2 (\chi_{J^x J^x} - Q^2 / \mathcal{M})^2 M_{J^x J^x}}{\mathcal{M}(M_{J^x J^x}^2 + (M_{J^x J^y} + N_{J^x J^y})^2)}$$

$$= \frac{B^2}{\mathcal{M}} \sigma_0 + \mathcal{O}(B^3) ,$$

$$\Omega_H = \frac{QB}{M} \left[1 - \frac{B}{Q} \frac{(\chi_{J^x J^x} - Q^2 / \mathcal{M})^2 (M_{J^x J^y} + N_{J^x J^y})}{\mathcal{M}(M_{J^x J^x}^2 + (M_{J^x J^y} + N_{J^x J^y})^2)} \right]$$

$$= \frac{QB}{\mathcal{M}} \left[1 - \frac{B}{Q} \sigma_0^H \right] + \mathcal{O}(B^3) ,$$
(128a)
(128b)

where we defined the incoherent conductivity matrix $(\sigma_0)^{ij} = \sigma_0 \,\delta^{ij} + \sigma_0^H \epsilon^{ij}$ as the inverse of the incoherent resistivity matrix

$$(\rho_0)_{ij} = \frac{M_{J_i J_j} + N_{J_i J_j}}{\chi_{\rm inc}^2}, \qquad (129)$$

with

$$\chi_{\rm inc} \equiv \chi_{J^x J^x} - \frac{Q^2}{\mathcal{M}} \,. \tag{130}$$

These definitions are entirely analogous to those in section 5.1.

A clean result for the conductivities can be obtained with a scaling limit similar to (90), which is now expressed

$$\omega \sim B$$
, $\chi_{\rm inc} \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{B}}$. (131)

The full conductivities in this limit are given by (typically $\sigma_0^H \sim B$, and hence it drops out of the final expression)

$$\sigma_{xx}(\omega) = \frac{-i\mathcal{M}\omega(Q^2 + B^2\sigma_0^2 - i\mathcal{M}\omega\sigma_0)}{(-i\mathcal{M}\omega + \sigma_0 B^2)^2 + B^2Q^2} + \mathcal{O}(B^0), \qquad (132a)$$

$$\sigma_{xy}(\omega) = BQ \frac{(Q^2 + B^2 \sigma_0^2 - 2i\mathcal{M}\omega\sigma_0)}{(-i\mathcal{M}\omega + \sigma_0 B^2)^2 + B^2 Q^2} + \mathcal{O}(B^0), \qquad (132b)$$

which agrees with [38, 79, 52].

References

- W. J. Skocpol and M. Tinkham, "Fluctuations near superconducting phase transitions," Rep. Prog. Phys. 38 1049 (1975).
- [2] P. Minnhagen, "The two-dimensional Coulomb gas, vortex unbinding, and superfluidsuperconducting films," Rev. Mod. Phys. 59, 1001 (1987).
- [3] A. Larkin and A. Varlamov, Theory of fluctuations in superconductors, OUP (2005).

- [4] P. Phillips and D. Dalidovich, "The Elusive Bose Metal," Science 302, 243 (2003).
- [5] K. B. Efetov, "Phase transition in granulated superconductors," Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 78, 2017 (1980) [Sov. Phys. JETP 51, 1015 (1980)].
- [6] S. Doniach, "Quantum fluctuations in two-dimensional superconductors," Phys. Rev. B 24, 5063 (1981).
- [7] V. J. Emery and S. A. Kivelson, "Importance of phase fluctuations in superconductors with small superfluid density," Nature 374, 434 (1995).
- [8] J. Corson, R. Mallozzi, J. Orenstein, J. N. Eckstein, and I. Bozovic, "Vanishing of phase coherence in underdoped Bi₂Sr₂CaCu₂O_{8+δ}," Nature, **398**, 221 (1999).
- [9] P. M. C. Rourke, I. Mouzopoulou, X. Xu, C. Panagopoulos, Y. Wang, B. Vignolle, C. Proust, E. V. Kurganova, U. Zeitler, Y. Tanabe, T. Adachi, Y. Koike, and N. E. Hussey, "Phase-fluctuating superconductivity in overdoped La_{2-x}Sr_xCuO₄," Nat. Phys. 7, 455 (2011).
- [10] V. J. Emery and S. A. Kivelson, "Superconductivity in bad metals," Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 3253 (1995).
- [11] M.-S. Nam, A. Ardavan, S. J. Blundell, and J. A. Schlueter, "Fluctuating superconductivity in organic molecular metals close to the Mott transition," Nature, 449, 584 (2007).
- [12] M.-S. Nam, C. Mézière, P. Batail, L. Zorina, S. Simonov, and A. Ardavan, "Superconducting fluctuations in organic molecular metals enhanced by Mott criticality," Sci. Rep. 3, 3390, (2013).
- [13] A. F. Hebard and M. A. Paalanen, "Magnetic-field-tuned superconductor-insulator transition in two-dimensional films," Phys. Rev. Lett., 65, 927 (1990).
- [14] M. A. Paalanen, A. F. Hebard, and R. R. Ruel, "Low-temperature insulating phases of uniformly disordered two-dimensional superconductors," Phys. Rev. Lett. 69, 1604 (1992).
- [15] A. Yazdani and A. Kapitulnik, "Superconducting-Insulating Transition in Two-Dimensional a-MoGe Thin Films," Phys. Rev. Lett. 74, 3037 (1995).

- [16] D. Ephron, A. Yazdani, A. Kapitulnik, and M. R. Beasley, "Observation of Quantum Dissipation in the Vortex State of a Highly Disordered Superconducting Thin Film," Phys. Rev. Lett. 76, 1529-1532 (1996).
- [17] N. Mason and A. Kapitulnik, "Dissipation Effects on the Superconductor-Insulator Transition in 2D Superconductors," Phys. Rev. Lett. 82, 5341 (1999).
- [18] H. M. Jaeger, D. B. Haviland, B. G. Orr, and A. M. Goldman, "Onset of superconductivity in ultrathin granular metal films," Phys. Rev. B 40, 182 (1989).
- [19] N. Marković, C. Christiansen, A. M. Mack, W. H. Huber, and A. M. Goldman, "Superconductor-insulator transition in two dimensions," Phys. Rev. B 60, 4320 (1999).
- [20] S. Okuma, Y. Imamoto, and M. Morita, "Vortex Glass Transition and Quantum Vortex Liquid at Low Temperature in a Thick *a* $Mo_x Si_{1-x}$ Film," Phys. Rev. Lett. **86**, 3136 (2001).
- [21] Y. Qin, C. L. Vicente, and J. Yoon, "Magnetically induced metallic phase in superconducting tantalum films," Phys. Rev. B 73, 100505 (2006).
- [22] M. A. Steiner, N. P. Breznay, and A. Kapitulnik, "Approach to a superconductor-to-Bose-insulator transition in disordered films," Phys. Rev. B 77, 212501 (2008).
- [23] Y. Liu, D. B. Haviland, L. I. Glazman, and A. M. Goldman, "Resistive transitions in ultrathin superconducting films: Possible evidence for quantum tunneling of vortices," Phys. Rev. Lett. 68, 2224 (1992).
- [24] J. A. Chervenak and J. M. Valles, "Observation of critical amplitude fluctuations near the two-dimensional superconductor-insulator transition," Phys. Rev. B 59, 11209 (1999).
- [25] Y.-H. Lin, J. Nelson, and A. M. Goldman, "Suppression of the Berezinskii-Kosterlitz-Thouless Transition in 2D Superconductors by Macroscopic Quantum Tunneling," Phys. Rev. Lett. 109, 017002 (2012).
- [26] A. I. Larkin and Y. N. Ovchinnikov, "Pinning in type II superconductors," J. Low Temp. Phys., 34, 409 (1979).

- [27] D. S. Fisher, M. P. A. Fisher, and D. A. Huse, "Thermal fluctuations, quenched disorder, phase transitions, and transport in type-II superconductors," Phys. Rev. B 43, 130 (1991).
- [28] X. Shi, P. V. Lin, T. Sasagawa, V. Dobrosavljević, and D. Popović, "Two-stage magnetic-field-tuned superconductor-insulator transition in underdoped $La_{2-x}Sr_xCuO_4$," Nat. Phys. 10, 437 (2014).
- [29] W. Liu, L. Pan, J. Wen, M. Kim, G. Sambandamurthy, and N. P. Armitage, "Microwave Spectroscopy Evidence of Superconducting Pairing in the Magnetic-Field-Induced Metallic State of InO_x Films at Zero Temperature," Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 067003 (2013).
- [30] P. Spathis, H. Aubin, A. Pourret, and K. Behnia, "Nernst effect in the phase-fluctuating superconductor InO_x ," EPL 83, 57005 (2008).
- [31] A. Pourret, P. Spathis, H. Aubin, and K. Behnia, "Nernst effect as a probe of superconducting fluctuations in disordered thin films," New J. Phys. 11, 055071 (2009).
- [32] M. Dumm, D. Faltermeier, N. Drichko, M. Dressel, C. Mézière, and P. Batail, "Bandwidth-controlled Mott transition in κ -(BEDT-TTF)₂Cu[N(CN)₂]Br_xCl_{1-x}: Optical studies of correlated carriers," Phys. Rev. B **79**, 195106 (2009).
- [33] T. Sasaki, T. Fukuda, T. Nishizaki, T. Fujita, N. Yoneyama, N. Kobayashi, and W. Biberacher, "Low-temperature vortex liquid states induced by quantum fluctuations in the quasi-two-dimensional organic superconductor $\kappa (BEDT TTF)_2Cu(NCS)_2$," Phys. Rev. B **66**,224513 (2002).
- [34] S. A. Hartnoll, "Theory of universal incoherent metallic transport," Nature Phys. 11, 54 (2015) [arXiv:1405.3651 [cond-mat.str-el]].
- [35] D. Forster, Hydrodynamics, fluctuations, broken symmetry, and correlation functions, Perseus books (1975).
- [36] J. Bardeen and M. J. Stephen, "Theory of the Motion of Vortices in Superconductors," Phys. Rev., 140, A1197 (1965).
- [37] B. I. Halperin and D. R. Nelson, "Resistive transition in superconducting films," J. Low Temp Phys 36, 599 (1979).

- [38] S. A. Hartnoll, P. K. Kovtun, M. Muller and S. Sachdev, "Theory of the Nernst effect near quantum phase transitions in condensed matter, and in dyonic black holes," Phys. Rev. B 76, 144502 (2007) [arXiv:0706.3215 [cond-mat.str-el]].
- [39] R. A. Davison, B. Goutéraux and S. A. Hartnoll, "Incoherent transport in clean quantum critical metals," JHEP 1510, 112 (2015) [arXiv:1507.07137 [hep-th]].
- [40] B. Spivak and S. A. Kivelson, "Transport in two dimensional electronic microemulsions," Ann. Phys. 321, 2071 (2006) [arXiv:0510422 [cond-mat.mes-hall]].
- [41] A.V. Andreev, S. A. Kivelson and B. Spivak. "Hydrodynamic description of transport in strongly correlated electron systems," Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 256804 (2011), [arXiv:1011.3068 [cond-mat.mes-hall]].
- [42] A. Lucas, J. Crossno, K. C. Fong, P. Kim and S. Sachdev, "Transport in inhomogeneous quantum critical fluids and in the Dirac fluid in graphene," Phys. Rev. B 93, 075426 (2016) [arXiv:1510.01738 [cond-mat.str-el]].
- [43] D. A. Bandurin, I. Torre, R. Krishna Kumar, M. Ben Shalom, A. Tomadin, A. Principi, G. H. Auton, E. Khestanova, K. S. Novoselov, I. V. Grigorieva, L. A. Ponomarenko, A. K. Geim and M. Polini, "Negative local resistance due to viscous electron backflow in graphene," arXiv:1509.04165 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [44] J. Crossno, J. K. Shi, K. Wang, X. Liu, A. Harzheim, A. Lucas, S. Sachdev, P. Kim, T. Taniguchi, K. Watanabe, T. A. Ohki and K. C. Fong, "Observation of the Dirac fluid and the breakdown of the Wiedemann-Franz law in graphene," arXiv:1509.04713 [cond-mat.mes-hall].
- [45] P. J. W. Moll, P. Kushwaha, N. Nandi, B. Schmidt and A. P. Mackenzie, "Evidence for hydrodynamic electron flow in PdCoO2," arXiv:1509.05691 [cond-mat.str-el].
- [46] R. A. Davison and B. Goutéraux, "Momentum dissipation and effective theories of coherent and incoherent transport," JHEP 1501, 039 (2015) [arXiv:1411.1062 [hepth]].
- [47] P.M. Chaikin and T.C. Lubensky, Principles of condensed matter physics, CUP (1995).
- [48] G. Venketeswara Pai, E. Shimshoni and N. Andrei, "Resistivity of inhomogeneous superconducting wires," Phys. Rev. B 77, 104528 (2008) [arXiv:0712.3241 [condmat.supr-con]].

- [49] S. A. Hartnoll and C. P. Herzog, "Impure AdS/CFT correspondence," Phys. Rev. D 77, 106009 (2008) [arXiv:0801.1693 [hep-th]].
- [50] S. A. Hartnoll and D. M. Hofman, "Locally Critical Resistivities from Umklapp Scattering," Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 241601 (2012) [arXiv:1201.3917 [hep-th]].
- [51] S. A. Hartnoll, R. Mahajan, M. Punk and S. Sachdev, "Transport near the Isingnematic quantum critical point of metals in two dimensions," Phys. Rev. B 89, no. 15, 155130 (2014) [arXiv:1401.7012 [cond-mat.str-el]].
- [52] A. Lucas and S. Sachdev, "Memory matrix theory of magnetotransport in strange metals," Phys. Rev. B 91, no. 19, 195122 (2015) [arXiv:1502.04704 [cond-mat.str-el]].
- [53] R. A. Davison, L. V. Delacrétaz, B. Goutéraux and S. A.Hartnoll, In preparation.
- [54] L. P. Kadanoff and P. C. Martin, "Hydrodynamic equations and correlation functions," Ann. Phys., 24, 419 (1963).
- [55] R. P. Huebener and A. Seher, "Nernst Effect and Flux Flow in Superconductors. I. Niobium," Phys. Rev. 181, 701 (1969).
- [56] Z. A. Xu, N. P. Ong, Y. Wang, T. Kakeshita and S. Uchida, "Vortex-like excitations and the onset of superconducting phase fluctuation in underdoped $La_{2-x}Sr_xCuO_4$," Nature 406, 486 (2000).
- [57] J. Pearl, "Current distribution in superconducting films carrying quantized fluxoids," Appl. Phys. Lett. 5, 65 (1964).
- [58] R. A. Davison and B. Goutéraux, "Dissecting holographic conductivities," JHEP 1509, 090 (2015) [arXiv:1505.05092 [hep-th]].
- [59] M. Blake, "Momentum relaxation from the fluid/gravity correspondence," JHEP 1509, 010 (2015) [arXiv:1505.06992 [hep-th]].
- [60] W. Götze and P. Wölfle, "Homogeneous dynamical conductivity of simple metals," Phys. Rev. B 6, 1226 (1972).
- [61] N. Andrei, E. Shimshoni and A. Rosch, "Low temperature transport properties of strongly interacting systems-thermal conductivity of spin-1/2 chains," AIP Conf. Proc. 695, 315 (2003) [arXiv:cond-mat/0307578].

- [62] D. M. Wood and D. Stroud, "Charging effects and the phase-ordering transition in granular superconductors," Phys. Rev. B 25, 1600 (1982).
- [63] R. M. Bradley and S. Doniach, "Quantum fluctuations in chains of Josephson junctions," Phys. Rev. B 30, 1138 (1984).
- [64] S. Chakravarty, G.-L. Ingold, S. Kivelson and A. Luther, "Onset of Global Phase Coherence in Josephson-Junction Arrays: A Dissipative Phase Transition," Phys. Rev. Lett. 56, 2303 (1986).
- [65] M. P. A. Fisher, "Quantum Phase Slips and Superconductivity in Granular Films," Phys. Rev. Lett. 57, 885 (1986).
- [66] M. P. A. Fisher, "Dissipation and quantum fluctuations in granular superconductivity," Phys. Rev. B 36, 1917 (1987).
- [67] M. P. A. Fisher and G. Grinstein, "Quantum Critical Phenomena in Charged Superconductors," Phys. Rev. Lett. 60, 208 (1988).
- [68] S. Doniach and M. Inui, "Long-range Coulomb interactions and the onset of superconductivity in the high- T_c materials," Phys. Rev. B **41**, 6668 (1990).
- [69] S. V. Syzranov, I. L. Aleiner, B. L. Altshuler, and K. B. Efetov, "Coulomb Interaction and First-Order Superconductor-Insulator Transition," Phys. Rev. Lett. 105, 137001 (2010).
- [70] S. Sachdev and O. A. Starykh, "Thermally fluctuating superconductors in two dimensions," Nature 405, 322 (2000).
- [71] P. W. Anderson, "Special effects in superconductivity," in *Lectures on the Many Body Problem*, ed. E. R. Caianiello (Academic, New York, 1964), Vol. 2, p. 113.
- [72] M. Tinkham, Introduction to Superconductivity, Dover (2004).
- [73] R. Mahajan, M. Barkeshli and S. A. Hartnoll, "Non-Fermi liquids and the Wiedemann-Franz law," Phys. Rev. B 88, 125107 (2013) [arXiv:1304.4249 [cond-mat.str-el]].
- [74] A. Zee, "Quantum Hall fluids," Lect. Notes Phys. 456, 99 (1995) [arXiv:condmat/9501022].
- [75] M. Mulligan and S. Raghu, "Composite fermions and the field-tuned superconductorinsulator transition," arXiv:1509.07865.

- [76] V. M. Galitski, G. Refael, M. P. A. Fisher and T. Senthil, "Vortices and Quasiparticles near the Superconductor-Insulator Transition in Thin Films," Phys. Rev. Lett. 95, 077002 (2005).
- [77] Y.-H. Chen, F. Wilczek, E. Witten and B. I. Halperin, "On anyon superconductivity," Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 03, 1001 (1989).
- [78] S. Golkar, M. M. Roberts and D. T. Son, "The Euler current and relativistic parity odd transport," JHEP 1504, 110 (2015) [arXiv:1407.7540 [hep-th]].
- [79] S. A. Hartnoll and C. P. Herzog, "Ohm's Law at strong coupling: S duality and the cyclotron resonance," Phys. Rev. D 76, 106012 (2007) [arXiv:0706.3228 [hep-th]].
- [80] E. Shimshoni, A. Auerbach and A. Kapitulnik, "Transport through Quantum Melts," Phys. Rev. Lett. 80, 3352 (1998).